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PUBLIC AVAILABILITY OF REPORT

This report is available to the public on request at the School's Administration Office or
www.tgs.qld.edu.aujabout_usjAnnual_Report_2019. Enquiries should be directed to: Greg Walsh, Board
Secretary, telephone 0747224931, Facsimile 47224994 or greg·.walsh@tgs.qld.edu.au.
ISSN 1837-8544
LEGISLATIVE BASIS

The Grammar Schools Act 2016 (Qld) came into effect on 1 January 2017. The Grammar Schools Act 2016 (Qld)
did not alter the status or functions of the Board of Trustees or the Board's responsibility for the governance
of the school. Townsville Grammar School was first established under the Grammar Schools Act 1860.
The Board of Trustees of the Townsville Grammar School is constituted under the Gramntar Schools Act 2016
(Qld) and is a Statutory Body as prescribed by the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and is subject to audit by
the Auditor-General.
MINISTER RESPONSIBLE FOR ADMINISTRATION OF LEGISLATION

The Minister for Education and Minister for Industrial Relations is responsible for the administration of the
Grammar Schools Act 2016 (Qld).
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

45 Paxton Street, Townsville Qld 4810 is the main campus address of the School. Junior School campuses are
located at 1 Brazier Drive Annandale Qld 4814 and Corner Erskine Place and North Shore Boulevard Burdell
Qld4818.
STATUTORY FUNCTIONS

Townsville Grammar School Board

Act

Grammar Schools Act 2016 (Qld)

Functions

The Board of Trustees held eleven (11) general meetings during 2019.
The functions of the Board of Trustees of the Townsville Grammar School are:a) to supervise, maintain and control the operations of the board's school;
b) to erect, alter, add to, purchase or sell buildings used or to be used for the board's school;
c) to effect general improvements to the premises used or to be used for the board's school;
d) to provide an educational program for the board's school;
e) to make policies and procedures about:
- fees and charges payable in relation to students enrolled or to be enrolled at the
board's school; and
- the management and control of the board's school; and
- the discipline and conduct of students enrolled at the board's school; and
-the matters mentioned in paragraphs (a) to (d);
f) any other function given to the board under the Grammar Schools Act or another Act.

Achievements

In March 2007 a Strategic Capital Developments timeline was developed as a charter for
future capital works. The School continues to implement this strategic capital development
plan. Master plans have been developed for each of the three campuses and these guide
capital development.
- A Building sub-committee met on a monthly basis to ensure strategic developments
identified in the strategic plan progressed as planned.
- The development of the School's third campus at North Shore was progressed with
completion of an Early Education Centre in January 2015. Construction of stage 2 of the
campus was completed late October 2016 and a two GLA modular building was added late
2019. The School accepted enrolments for years Prep to 4 during 2019.
- Restoration of the School's historic, heritage listed, School House continued during 2019
with completion of the exterior restoration. The internal design and required approvals
were progressed during 2019 with the internal restoration starting early 2020. The ground
floor of the building is expected to be operational in the second half of 2020.

A strong performance by the year 12 cohort - 2019 results summarised
httj2s:,L,!_www.tgs.qld.edu.au,!_news,!_tgs-news,!_class-of-20l9-resultsL
Financial
reporting

The Board of Trustees is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial report in accordance with prescribed accounting requirements identified in the
Financial and Performance Management Standard 2019. In accordance with this, general
purpose financial statements pursuant to section 62(1) of the Financial Accountability Act
2009 are prepared. The financial statements are subject to annual audit under the AuditorGeneral Act 2009. The QAO report https:j jwww.qao.qld.gov.aujreportsparliamentjeducation-2017-18-results-financial-audits Education: 2017-18 results of
financial audits (Rej2ort 19:2018-19)' was tabled in the Queensland legislative assembly on 16
May 2019.

Remuneration: Board members are engaged on a voluntary basis and no remuneration is received.
Elected Members: S.Durward, G.Bell, C.Cocklin. Ministerial Appointed Members: J.Johnson, D.Rains,
A.Johnson, B.McKay. Members were appointed 10 September 2015 for a period offour (4) years. The term of
appointment continues until the Minister for Education and Minister for Industrial Relations appoints the
new board.
Number of scheduLed meetinqs: 11. TotaL out of pocket expenses: NiL
STATUTORY POWERS
The Board has all the powers of an individual as conferred or imposed upon it by or under the Grammar
SchooLs Act 2016 (Qld), and may, for example (a) enter into contracts; and

(b)

acquire, hold, deal with and dispose of property; and

(c)

do anything else necessary or convenient to be done in performing its functions.

(d)

has power to make by-laws about- elections under this Act; and
- conduct of its business.

CONTROLLED ENTITY
The Board of Trustees of the Townsville Grammar School administer a Building Fund established in
accordance with "The CharitabLe Funds Act 1958". The fund is audited by the Queensland Audit Office. The
financial details are included in the attached statements. The fund is the "Townsville Grammar School
Building Fund". The purpose of the fund is to provide for the acquisition, construction or maintenance of the
School buildings.
STRATEGIC PLAN 2019
Mission Statement

To provide a best practice, independent school environment within which students enjoy mutual respect, a
sense of pride and can achieve their personal best in academic, cultural and sporting endeavours.
Vision

To grow Townsville Grammar School to maintain pre-eminence in North Queensland.
Critical Success Factors

• Leadership of the Principal;
• Quality and commitment of all staff;
• High expectations of student achievement and behaviour;
• Strategically focused Board with a strong relationship with the Principal;
• Sound financial base.
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Enrolments

• Townsville Grammar School will pursue a consolidation model of enrolment growth in the current
economic circumstances but then pursue a more aggressive model as conditions improve.
• Develop the North Shore Junior Campus. Stage 1- Pre-Prep and Pre-Kindy constructed in 2015, opened
2016 and stage 2 -Prep to year 2 - constructed in 2016, opened 2017. Campus development to
accommodate incremental year level roll out.
Educational Offering

• Establish appropriate schooling structures and programmes which maximise student potential within a
single School framework:
- P-6 Junior School - Annandale Campus
- P-6 North Shore Campus (2019 P-4)
- 7-9 Middle School - North Ward Campus
- 10-12 Senior School- North Ward Campus
• Develop best practice program delivery - teaching, learning and caring;
• Maximise OP outcomes for all eligible students;
• Provide a best practice co-curricular program staffed primarily by TGS personnel.
Boarding

• Build on our strength as the pre-eminent co-educational boarding School in North Queensland;
• Boarding facilities are sustainable over the foreseeable future given the School's preference to retain a
model of "excess demand for boarding".
• Improve the amenity and appearance of the Parker Hall boarding facility. Bathroom renovation and
external stairs and entrance statement project to be further developed.
• Attract and retain quality boarding staff.
Staff Development

• Ensure competitive and attractive remuneration for all staff;
• Provide attractive professional development opportunities;
• Further develop staff facilities and working conditions;
• Optimise the efficiency and effectiveness of the Senior Management team.
Marketing and communications

• Strengthen links with alumni to ensure an ongoing base of support for the School's future;
• Build stronger relationships with the local, national and international School community;
• Maintain the opportunity for parents and friends of the School to interact as a positive School community.
Property, facilities and resources

• Continue development of the campuses in accordance with the respective campus master plans.
Governance and management

• Manage the succession of membership of the Board to ensure enhanced effectiveness and a continued
strategic focus;
• Provide ongoing governance training to the Board within the School.
Funding the Vision

• Establish and resource a TGS Foundation to underpin fundraising and the future development of the
School;
• Prepare a financial plan for the life of this strategic plan.

3

The Values of Townsville Grammar School
• Personal best- a commitment to personal best achievement by students in all their endeavours;
•

Best practice - a commitment to organisational critical reflection and incremental improvement;

•

Mutual respect - a commitment to ensuring that everyone is valued and a School ethos where there is:

-

Respect for self
Respect for each other
Respect between staff and students
Respect for the fabric, ethos, history and facilities of the School.

•

Shared leadership - everybody in the School from Board to staff to students accepts responsibility for

maintaining the values and standards of the School;
•

Responsive to our community - an ongoing commitment to listen, to discuss and to take action in the
best interests of the whole School;

•

Staff are valued as an integral component of the ongoing success of the School.

REVIEW OF STRATEGIC GOALS

•
In September 2005 the Board engaged a consultant to facilitate a workshop to review progress on the
Strategic Plan to date.
It was agreed that 6 priorities will be the focus of the School's strategic thrust over the medium to long
term:
• A building programme to cope with expanded enrolments at the North Ward and Annandale
campuses;
• A focus on attracting, developing and retaining high calibre teaching staff;
• Adoption of a growth model which could include development of a third campus in a new growth area
of Townsville;
• A strategy for the boarding element of the School's offering and operations;
• Continued focus on improving academic outcomes;
• A more structured approach to maintaining contact and fostering relations with alumni.
Further, it was agreed that tasks previously identified in the Strategic Plan that are yet to be completed
will receive greater priority.

•

•
•
•

These priorities remain the focus of the Board of Trustees. In summary:
The Board convenes an annual strategic planning meeting to consider the School's progress towards the
identified priorities. During 2019 the Board resolved that an externally facilitated strategic planning meeting
will be conducted 2020 to refresh the existing strategic and master plans. This will allow the new Principal
(2018) and new board members to experience the School for a full academic year.
Master Plans have been developed to guide the building program.
The School's third campus - North Shore - accepted years Prep to 4 enrolments in 2019.
Providing better education and training outcomes for the School community genuinely open doors for our
students as they prepare to enter the workforce and further education. Such outcomes align with the
Queensland Government's community objectives.
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Enrolment
2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

SECONDARY

713

755

782

812

863

PRIMARY

422

438

474

515

511

TOTAL

1135

1193

1256

1327

1374

BOARDING

119

121

135

145

153

The School has experienced enrolment reductions across all categories in recent years however the relatively
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strong retention of enrolments during unprecedented recent regional economic hardship and extended
drought indicates the school is meeting its strategic goals:
• Developing a best practice program delivery in teaching learning and caring.
• Providing a best practice co-curricular program.
• Building on the schools position, as the pre-eminent boarding school in North Queensland.
Operating Efficiency

. 2019

Total Income
$ 29,124,755
Operating Surplus before
Depreciation and
Interest expense
$2,467,243
Student Numbers
Operating Efficiency
Per Student

1135

2018

2017

2016

2015

$ 29,576,557

$ 29,950,328

$31,271,206

$3,255,994

$3,600,877

$5,532,052

$4,620,375

1193

1256

1327

1374

$30,653,080

9%

11%

12%

18%

17%

$2,174

$2,729

$2,867

$4,169

$3,655

Operating efficiency is measured as the surplus from every dollar of gross revenue. The Somerset Education
survey for year ended 31/12/18 reported an average for similar schools of 16.1%.
Sample selection criteria: State: QLD, ACT, NSW, VIC, TAS, WA, NT; Day/Boarding: Boarding; SES between 100
and 109; Type: Co-educational; Curriculum: P-12; Students between 900 and 1600; multi-campus which contains
6 schools.
Debt per Student

2019

2018

$13,297,010

$14,864,215

$16,336,813

$17,721,066

$19,008,301

Student Numbers

1135

1193

1256

1327

1374

Debt per student

$11,715

$12,460

$13,007

$13,354

$13,834

Borrowings at end of
Financial year

2017

2016

2015

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS- PROGRESS TOWARDS GOAL ACHIEVEMENTS
CHAIRMAN'S REPORT

This year has been a year of opportunity. There have been several significant and positive changes to the
governance, educational and student activities of the School throughout 2019, many of which have been the
subject of reports from the Principal through the course of the year.
A number of infrastructure projects have been completed, or are in the process of development, which will
enhance the built environment on the three campuses into the future. These include the Boarding House,
School House, further classrooms at North Shore and planning for the Senior School.
Across the School, the academic results this year continue to reflect our high quality and focused academic
programme. Our students have been enriched through their educational experience and have responded
with outstanding academic results. Our varied sporting programmes have been expanded and developed to
enhance the activities offered to our students; and our excellent cultural and music programmes continue to
reflect the outstanding levels of our students' skill and enjoyment.
Townsville Grammar School provides an exceptional education for students from Prep to Year 12 at a cost
that is far less than comparable schools in Queensland, through proactive and skilled financial management.
The School has adopted, and is maintaining, inclusivity as a guiding principle in management of student
education costs. The fee structure for student tuition in the School has been adjusted to ameliorate the cost
of tuition where three or more siblings are concurrently enrolled at the School. This reduces the impact of
fees the parents must pay when several children are enrolled. The Board and Principal wiii continue to work
on innovative ways to further adjust the cost of educating your children to allow more families to be able to
access the Grammar opportunity for ail of their children.
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The quantum of Government financial support for independent schools is still a work in progress. The full
impact of projected changes to the way in which independent schools are partly funded by government is still
not entirely clear and is unlikely to be known in any helpful sense until next year. Independent schools, such
as ours, are substantially funded by parents' fee payments. Whilst the School receives a government funding
amount for each student, this is less than the amount received by a student in the government school system
when a comparison is made on per capita student government funding amounts. The Board is maintaining a
close surveillance of developments in regard to Government funding.
In 2018, the Board conducted a marketing survey which involved broad consultation with the whole School
community. We are grateful for the responses received and this has been acknowledged by the School in
several respects. A new marketing programme has been developed, under the guidance of our Director of
Marketing, and the most visible aspect of the programme is the rebadging of our marketing with the headline
of "Every Opportunity." We believe our School does indeed offer our students "Every Opportunity."
The refurbishment works on our heritage listed School House have continued and the exterior of the building
has been completed with the most recent and visible enhancement being the installation of a lift. Work has
progressed on the final design of the interior of the building together with the air-conditioning and other
services. We look forward to the student and School community use of School House re-commencing in or
before the 2021 school year. The Board will provide a design and use update during next year.
The Boarding House environment and management functions have been the markedly improved, under the
guidance of the Director of Boarding, with the construction of a new reception area which includes offices
and student activity and study facilities and new external staircases and a lift. The bathroom renovations
were completed earlier in the year.
The Board will be undertaking an important strategic planning review for the whole school, in early 2020.
This will encompass the School Strategic Plan and the Master Plans for each of the three school campuses as
well as future planning for educational offerings at every level in the School. Planning of this nature is carried
out on a regular basis and, on this occasion, there are significant matters for the Board to consider in
consultation with the Principal, Senior Management and staff.
This year the Board of Trustees underwent its four yearly membership re-assessment process. The Board
currently has seven members - three nominees elected by those eligible in the School community and four
nominees selected through a Board assessment process. Nominees are subject to appointment by the
Govenor-in-Council. The current Board continues until those appointments are considered and made by the
Govenor-in-Council. Two of the current members, each of whom have given diligent and exceptional support
to the School over many years, have given notice of their retirement and will be replaced by two new
nominees. Five of the current members have been either elected or nominated for appointment.
The Board of Trustees has worked diligently in their governance role for the School and I thank each member
for their voluntary contribution and for their continued support for me as Chairman. I also take this
opportunity to specifically acknowledge the significant contributions made by retiring Board members
Debbie Rains and Bob McKay. Their business and financial skills, in particular, have been of considerable
benefit to the governance oversight of the School throughout the period of their membership of the Board of
Trustees. On your behalf I thank them for their service to the School through their participation in its
governance functions. The Board Secretary, Mr Greg Walsh, has supported the Board through the year and
we acknowledge his valued contribution.
Our Year 12 students now embark upon their further education and careers. They do so with the advantage of
a Grammar School education an academic, sporting, cultural and social experience that has given them the
skills and confidence that has been part of their development, within the holistic environment of our
Grammar School. As students of Townsville Grammar School they each have benefited from the investment
made by their parents in their education and personal development. On behalf of the Board of Trustees I wish
each of them every success in their further studies, their careers and their personal futures as adult citizens.
Our School has continued to prosper throughout 2019 under the leadership of Principal Mr Tim Kelly and the
Senior Management group and the Board of Trustees acknowledges their efficient and industrious
management of the day to day operations of the School. The innovative and professional contributions to
both the operations of the School, overseen by Mr Kelly and the Board's governance, have been particularly
valuable and very effective. The Board also acknowledges the special and professional contributions to the
operations of the School by our highly valued staff. The success of our educational programmes across the
School reflect the hard work and commitment of our staff to our students.
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In 2020 the Board proposes to undertake significant enhancements to the infrastructure of both Junior
School campuses and to complete the next stage of the refurbishment of School House. The Board will
continue to work with the Principal in raising the profile of our School as the leading Independent School in
North Queensland and building on the development of our academic programme and the sporting and
cultural opportunities for our students.
We look forward to the challenges that the educational environment presents in the next year and we are
confident that Townsville Grammar School will provide to our students the advantage that our marketing
promises: "Every Opportunity."
JUDGE STUART DURWARD AM QC GAICD

CHAIRMAN, BOARD OF TRUSTEES
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS- Principal's report- edited

In a year that commenced with much devastation and tragedy in both Townsville and Northern Queensland, I
wish to commence my Annual Report by acknowledging and thanking the Grammar community for their
unwavering support of one another during this challenging time. It is under difficult and trying circumstances
that the true nature of a community is demonstrated, and I am most proud to be a member of a school
community that is defined by its compassion, understanding and resilience.
As Townsville Grammar School marks its 131st year of operation, I wish to report that the School has enjoyed
another successful year across all facets of its operations.
Whilst continuing to operate in a challenging economic environment, enrolments have remained strong for
2019. During the course of this year, it has been pleasing to observe an increase in our enrolment numbers.
Our North Shore Campus continues with natural growth as additional year groups commence and there has
been a substantial number of new students joining the School on the North Ward Campus, particularly in
Year 10 as students commence their ATAR preparation.
On their own these are inanimate numbers. However, to us they represent a tangible affirmation of the
strength of the School and the value that our parents place upon their children's education. At no time do we
ever take your support for granted, and the trust you place in our School is what drives us to constantly seek
to improve upon what we do.
For me, when reflecting on 2019, just some of the highlights of the year include:
• The manner in which the TGS community came together in support of one another and the broader
community following the devastating flooding event in February.
• The leadership demonstrated by the Year 12 Student Leaders, led by the School Captains and
Prefects, as they undertook a range of newly created leadership roles and opportunities.
• The fruition of several years of preparation and planning in readiness for the introduction of the new
ATAR system for our Year 11 students this year. The manner in which this has been achieved is a
testament to the professionalism and skill of our staff.
• Hosting our Year 7 2020 boarders and their families for the inaugural Boarders Orientation
Experience over two days during the Easter Holiday.
• The introduction of the Camps & Activities Week for all students on the North Ward Campus allowing
for each student to undertake experiential learning during this time.
• The staging of Shakespeare's The Tempest at the Townsville Entertainment & Convention Centre.
Watching this performance, it was easy to forget that it was a school production, such was the quality
of the acting, singing, dancing, costumes, sets and musicianship.
•
•

The wonderful performance of the School's Senior Choir as they sang at the Annual ANZAC Day Dawn
Service in the presence of the Prime Minister, The Honourable Scott Morrison MP.
The continued growth in, and support of, the varied service activities organised by the School,
including fundraising for charity as well as service in action activities, such as the Challenge Games
and Sony Camp.
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•

•
•

•

•
•
•

The completion of renovations of the boarding office space in the Parker-Hall Building along with the
installation of a lift for the use of boarding students, allowing a more welcoming entry to our
Boarding House.
The Black & Gold Bollywood Carnival dance performances by children from our Annandale and North
Shore campuses.
Our participation in a broad range of sporting endeavours and, in particular, our cadet Netball team,
Grammar 1, winning their Grand Final, against the odds, playing against a team who had not been
beaten all season.
The reflections of former School Captains, Sean Murray-Smith (1998) and Ryan Kelly (1999), as they
spoke about their time at the School at the Cum Laude Assembly and Past Grammarians' Reunion
respectively.
Grandparents and Special Friends' Days, held at our Annandale campus at the end of Term 1 and at
our North Shore campus at the end of Term 3.
The outstanding performances of our singers and musicians as they performed at our Assemblies
across all three campuses.
The School's inaugural TEDx convention, displaying the quality of future thought leaders amongst our
student body.

Whilst this list is by no means exhaustive, I congratulate all who have contributed in these many sporting,
cultural, academic, service and community events and am genuinely excited at the thought of all those to
come in 2020.
One of the other highlights of the year was the
introduction of the School's new byline - Every Opportunity. Last year, the School engaged the services of an
external agency to conduct research to identify viewpoints and perceptions of Townsville Grammar School.
This was instigated as the commencement of the Board of Trustees' strategic planning process. The findings
from this research revealed that those external to the School considered academic excellence as the defining
feature of Townsville Grammar School; whist internal stakeholders considered the School to have a much
broader narrative, with scholarship at the core of the Grammar experience. Whilst we are extremely proud of
the tradition of academic excellence possessed by the School, we all know that there is far greater breadth to
the education offered at Townsville Grammar School.
As a result of this, the concept of Every Opportunity was developed to enable the School to ensure that the
breadth of the Grammar experience was communicated more widely. The development of this new approach
was based on the following statements, as identified through the interview and focus group process.
Townsville Grammar School is a school with:
• A broad, balanced and liberal education resulting in academic distinction
• A culture of personal endeavour, personal best and personal development
• A culture of community, inclusiveness and belonging
• A culture of respect
• A rich history with long-standing traditions and deep connections within North and North West
Queensland, whilst maintaining a contemporary approach to education.
As a result of this research, the Every Opportunity concept was launched in May 2019, serving as a positioning
statement for the School and to underpin our new strategic marketing approach. Every Opportunity provides
a vehicle through which we can tell the full story of the life of the School, from academic, pastoral and cocurricular through to students, staff, boarding, alumni and the history of the School. Importantly, it also
serves to connect our three campuses under our "one-school" philosophy.
Every Opportunity has been very well received by our community. This byline resonates with our community
as they intrinsically understand that Townsville Grammar School is a place where each individual student is
given every opportunity to thrive in reaching their personal best - opportunity through learning, through
relationships, through experiences, through programmes and through the TGS connections.
In presenting this statement of Every Opportunity, I wanted to emphasise that opportunities at Grammar are
open to every member of our community- from our three year olds at North Shore to our Year 12s at North
Ward opening the doors to work and tertiary opportunities now available to them. The opportunity to gain a
TGS education is offered to families who need to access financial assistance to do so, through our
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scholarships and bursaries programme. Our Alumni are given the opportunity to share in their old school
through reunions and a warm welcome whenever they visit. Staff at Grammar can access personal and
professional development opportunities. Our parents have opportunities to engage with the lives of their
children and the School community through social and celebratory events. Families from remote areas are
given the opportunity to access a Grammar education through our Boarding programme. Most importantly,
service and leadership opportunities exist at every year level to support and guide our students to be the best
possible person they can be.
I am extremely proud to say that, at Townsville Grammar School, we do provide Every Opportunity.
THE ACADEMIC LIFE OF THE SCHOOL
The students of Townsville Grammar School have a long history of performing at a very high level
academically. This does not occur by chance, but rather as a result of a range of influences carefully aligned
to ensure our students are given the very best possible environment in which these academic achievements
are nurtured. These influences include the School's committed and highly qualified teaching staff, the
evidence of a disciplined and structured learning environment, the essential influence of our parents who
support the culture of valuing education, a culture within the School of acknowledging effort and an
expectation of personal best for all. We see evidence of this when we consider the academic results of our
students in relation to State benchmarks, academic competitions and in the final Year 12 results and
university placements.
I continue to be most impressed by the professional attitude and caring nature exhibited by all members of
the School staff- academic and support.
By placing the academic and pastoral needs of students at the centre of their decision making, a positive and
supportive environment has been cultivated by staff. I wish to extend my gratitude to all staff for their
contribution to the success of the School this year.
ACADEMIC PERFORMANCE YEAR 12 2018
Our 2018 Year 12 cohort produced some excellent results with six OP 1s (including IB equivalent results) in
addition to six OP 2s and fifteen OP 3s. The results received by the School's 2018 Year 12 cohort were
outstanding and the evidence of this is clear in a number of 'best ever' results received, as seen below:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

OP1s - 6 (including IB equivalents)
All IB students receiving their Diploma
OP 1-5- 37.7%
(3rd best result in last 10 years)
(Best ever)
OP 1-7- 56.6%
(Best ever)
OP1-10- 77.54%
OP1-15 98.55%
(Best ever)
The average OP result for 2018 was 7.68 which is the second best result for the last 10 years behind
the 2017 average OP of 7.54.
The seniors of 2018 have set a high benchmark and were justifiably proud of the academic legacy they left
behind.
INTERNATIONAL BACCALAUREATE
The International Baccalaureate Diploma Programme was first introduced to Townsville Grammar School in
2010 and, this year, we will graduate our ninth cohort. The IB is no longer a different or foreign concept; it is
now an integral component of the academic fabric of Townsville Grammar School.
The IB programme at Townsville Grammar School, whilst being recognised as a strong pre-tertiary course, is
also a programme that welcomes and encourages inquisitive learners.
The breadth and depth of the curriculum is recognised by universities around the world and it aims to
develop and foster students who: have a love of learning; are curious about the world; are on their way to
being autonomous and self-motivated; and who are passionate about being contributing members of the
community.
Whilst academically robust, the IB programme is, at its core, an holistic programme that values balance,
making it a viable option for our students.
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NAPLAN 2019
In May this year, our Years 3, 5, 7, and 9 students sat the NAPLAN testing. The students were tested in the
areas of reading, writing, language conventions and numeracy. Our students' performance across the board
was nothing short of exceptional. Over 99.1% of our students were above the National Benchmark. When
comparing our school-wide results, we were unrivalled in North Queensland. Our Year 7 cohort produced an
outstanding result that was the ninth best performance across the 484 Queensland Primary schools. These
results are continued evidence of our students' application of the "personal best" motto we all attempt to role
model and instil.
Compared to all Queensland schools, in Year 3 we were 53rd out of 1,210 schools; Year 5, 28th out of 1,210
schools; Year 7, 9th out of 484 schools, and Year 9, 19th out of 500 schools.
In every category, in every year level, Townsville Grammar School ranked higher than the state average, and
98-100% of students in each category in each year level achieved above the national average. Again,
Townsville Grammar School has ranked as the leading school in Townsville for both Primary and Secondary.
In comparison with approximately 1,200 primary schools and 500 secondary schools, we have ranked number
27 and 14 respectively. This is a shared achievement of which we can all feel justifiably proud.
CUM LAUDE AWARDS
The 21st Annual Cum Laude Ceremonies, held on 5 August, were a wonderful celebration of the hard work of
our award winners. The highly regarded Alan Marwood Awards were presented to 22 students who achieved
a Cum Laude Award in each of their six years at Grammar since Year 7.
PRO DILIGENTIAAWARDS
This year, changes were made to the manner in which Pro Diligentia Awards are allocated. Firstly, the Pro
Diligentia Awards were separated from the awarding of Cum Laude Awards. These two awards recognise two
different things - Cum Laude Awards recognise academic excellence whereas the Pro Diligentia Awards
acknowledge academic effort. This year, every student in the School had the opportunity to receive a Pro
Diligentia Award if they demonstrated sufficient effort in their studies. Secondly, a new level of Pro Diligentia
Award the Pro Summa Diligentia Award - was presented to students who demonstrated the highest level of
work ethic in each of their subjects. Diligence was also recognised twice this year following the publishing of
the interim reports in Terms 1 and 3.
The long-standing academic culture evident at the School is clearly illustrated by the number of students
receiving Pro Diligentia Awards.
This year, 345 students received a Pro Diligentia Award in Term 2 and 418 in Term 4. The determined
approach of so many students to their academic studies, regardless of achievement, results in a positive
environment in each and every classroom.
ART
The Art Faculty continued to be a supportive, inspiring space for students to develop their creative identities
in 2019. Art Club and tutorial lessons were well-supported and, as always, a pleasing number of students took
advantage of extra time in the Art classrooms during lunch times. Open Night and the Cultural Awards
Evening exhibitions demonstrated the continued enthusiasm and creativity of our students, teachers and
support staff.
BUSINESS AND HUMANITIES
The suite of subjects offered in the Business and Humanities Faculty was further expanded in 2019 to include
the elective of Business Studies in the Year 9 subject offerings. This was positively received, with four classes of
students enrolling in the course to learn about the importance of personal financial literacy and the world of
commerce.
Business and Humanities students have had the opportunity to engage in activities that allow them to
experience real world applications of their studies. Geography students investigated sustainability by visiting a
sugar cane farm in the Burdekin, the coastal system at Rowes Bay, and The Australian Institute of Marine
Science (AIMS), James Cook University and the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority (GBRMPA) to learn
more about the implications of global warming and climate change. Year 9 Geography also visited Mungalla
Station in Term 3 as part of their sustainable tourism studies. Meanwhile, the Year 10 Geography class
investigated coastal erosion and management techniques at Rowes Bay and the Year 11 class had a two-day field
trip to Ingham and Cardwell investigating issues facing rural Australia. Year 12 Economics students took
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advantage of the opportunity to attend a business breakfast hosted by PVW Partners at The Ville. A team of four
Year 12 students studying Accounting, Economics and Legal Studies were announced national winners of the
CQUniversity School Business Challenge.
DANCE & DRAMA
Drama is a popular subject at TGS due to its practical nature and the broad applicability of communication
skills that underpin the subject and are necessary for all professions. Two classes of Year 11 Drama students
have encountered the new curriculum this year and are now prepared to confidently face the challenges of
Year 12 Drama.
During the year, senior students and their parents have benefited from attending evening performances to
view live practical assessments.
This is the second year that Dance has been a subject in the Senior School. Dance students in Years 10 and 11
are currently enjoying the breadth of the ATAR syllabus. In 2020, the first Dance class will graduate from TGS.
ENGLISH
Students' creative writing skills are recognised across both campuses during Townsville Grammar School's
annual Writing Competition. The North Ward Campus Writing Competition is now in its 20th year.
DESIGN & TECHNOLOGY
Students in the Design and Technology Faculty have had a busy and exciting year. The emphasis this year has
been for the students to focus on how design has influenced the social, cultural and economic environments
in which they live. They are required to understand the needs and wants of stakeholders, then create and
develop possible solutions. This, empowers the students to have a willingness to take risks and experiment
with alternatives through a range of design pathways.
Additionally, Mr Bill Whitburn OAM, Townsville RSL Sub Branch President, provided valuable insight and
advice to Year 11 Design students when they showcased their Commercial Design product through a
multimodal presentation. Mr Whitburn was impressed with the innovation that Joshua Murry (11/2019)
showed with a prototyped model developed to promote increased community connection to the
commemoration and remembrance of ANZAC Day.
HOSPITALITY
The new Senior Syllabus has been received well by the students who are enjoying a greater focus on the
practical side of the subject, thus instilling positive life skills into their repertoire. The Year 11 Hospitality
students were involved in many functions within the School. They helped set up and serve at the Netball,
Rowing and Rugby end of year celebrations, as well as producing a number of buffet lunches and cocktail
events for the staff, as part of their on-going assessment.
This year's transition into the new Applied Hospitality subject, which can now count towards an ATAR score,
has been very successful with Year 11 students enjoying the subject matter and performing extremely well.
External training has also featured, with TAFE industry representatives and Coffee Dominion all offering
students an insight into customer service and professionalism.
Also, this year, the Hospitality kitchen opened its doors to a number of LOTE classes from Year 8 and
upwards to allow them to utilise their chosen language in a practical environment, cooking dishes from
France and Italy. The coffee cart has been working hard for the Hospitality Department and is a useful
training tool for students wishing to gain industry experience whilst still studying.
Popularity of the after school Cooking Club is steadily rising which has seen an influx of members from Years
7 and 8, as well as the regular group of older students. This is pleasing to see as it provides a chance to embed
foundation life skills to stand the student in good stead for future years.
HEALTH & PHYSICAL EDUCATION
In 2019, students on the North Ward campus enjoyed a variety of exciting learning activities as part of the
HPE curriculum.
Our Senior PE cohort enjoyed a wide range of learning experiences in both the theoretical and practical
components of their Physical Education programme. The students experienced a broad variety of complex
and contemporary theoretical units, married to some old and new practical activities. Practical units included
Volleyball, Netball, Touch Football and Swimming, and in theory Sociology, Psychology, Exercise Science and
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Biomechanics still comprise a considerable part of the work. Our students continued to produce very high
standards of work and can be very pleased with their efforts.
In Middle School Health and Physical Education (HPE), students participated in an even greater number of
exciting activities and sports. These are essential in building upon fundamental physical skills and teamwork.
Whilst achieving excellent grades in HPE is highly regarded, it is the development of other skills that is also
important when working together in HPE. The Middle School HPE students also studied a wide range of
theory units, integrated with practical activities such as AFL, Basketball, and Water Polo. Pleasingly, many of
our Middle School students produced excellent work that earned them outstanding grades.
ICT
Building upon the success at Townsville's inaugural event in 2017, teams from Townsville Grammar School
competed in the regional First Lego League competition held at CQUniversity in November 2018. Launched in
1999, this international STEM competition requires students to design, build and program a robot to
autonomously interact with a range of Lego mechanisms and complete as many missions as possible during a
given time. In addition to this, students complete a research activity based on the theme for the year and
prepare a presentation to be given at the competition. "Into Orbit" was the theme for 2018 and required
students to explore the physical and social issues faced by humans when travelling through and living in
space.
MATHEMATICS
A large number of students have been involved in Mathematics Enrichment activities in 2019.
In Term 2, 61 students from Years 7 to 10 completed the Mathematics Challenge for Young Australians, a
problem solving competition for elite mathematicians.
Of major importance, 2019 has seen the introduction of the new "ATAR" curriculum in Queensland schools. For
the first time at Townsville Grammar School, there are four mathematics subjects available for students to
study. The Year 10 curriculum has been substantially modified to meet the high content requirements of the
new senior curriculum.
2020 will again be a challenging year with Year 12 Mathematics students needing to be adequately prepared for
the new external exam system. This is most important in Mathematics and Science subjects as students are
required to sit 50% exams that cover all of their Year 12 units. Finally, 2020 is also the first year of the new
mathematics curriculum in the International Baccalaureate system, another exciting challenge but one that we
are will equipped to meet given the excellent organisation and planning that typifies the International
Baccalaureate Organisation.
MODERN LANGUAGES
The French Speech Competition results were impressive this year with students winning 12 prizes in the Years 6
to 12 categories, including all first place prize-winners. Students prepared their own speeches based on a
format for Years 6 to 9 and the Senior School were given a choice of topics to present a speech and respond to
questions. In this year's Alliance Fran<;aise Townsville Region Poetry Recitation, outstanding French accents and
pronunciation talent won numerous accolades for our students reciting a selected French poem.
During the September holidays, 14 students and three staff travelled to Japan for 12 days for the 2019
Japanese Tour. The main focus of the tour was experiencing authentic Japanese life and language immersion.
Students stayed with host families and attended classes at our sister school, Shinjo East High School. The
group travelled by bullet train to Shinjo, a mountainous town in northern Japan, taking part in lessons,
cultural activities and excursions. Following the visit to Shinjo, the group returned to Tokyo where they had
the opportunity to test out their language skills by navigating public transport, restaurants and the
juxtaposition between the old and new in the biggest megacity in the world.
MUSIC
Music is intrinsic to the School's culture and sense of being. Across the three campuses, Music affords
students opportunities to enhance and enrich their learning for life, and allows students to become
performers, composers and listeners of taste and discernment. The Music programme provides breadth and
scope for a range of musical genres and styles with instrumental and vocal ensembles that perform regularly
at school and community events, exhibiting the skills and talents of our students.
The Grammar community has maintained and enhanced its generous support of the international aid agency,
Musicians Without Borders, with $800 being raised from concerts and events.
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The annual Friends of Music Cocktail Function was attended by 120 guests, including political representatives
from Federal, State and local governments, and leaders from the artistic and education communities in the
city. The evening featured performances from students and the Director of Music.
The quality and breadth of Music in the Junior School has expanded significantly in 2019. At the North Shore
campus, instrumental and vocal tuition, as well as a choral programme have been implemented and
classroom music is a vital part of School life as the campus develops and expands.
Music tuition at the Annandale Campus School remains popular with over 200 lessons taking place weekly
with the fifteen tutors who visit the Annandale Campus. This tuition also enables excellence in our
ensembles.
In 2019 a range of instrumental ensembles, with strong membership, regularly demonstrated emerging
musical skill. The Recitals at Annandale were well attended and were of a very pleasing standard.
The choral and instrumental tradition continues to remain strong with regular performances.
Curriculum Music at Annandale and North Shore aligns with the Australian Curriculum. The School has
expanded resources for classroom materials and instruments to allow a wider range of musical experience.
The Year 3 Strings programme has now been running for twelve years and its benefits are obvious
throughout the wider school instrumental programme.
In the Middle School, students in Curriculum Music have made excellent use of class time, and have
expanded their work in composition, performance and musical understanding. The resources for music
technology have been a great medium to enhance and extend the students' learning. All students in Years 7
and 8 study Music and Music is offered as an elective subject in Years 9 to 12.
Students in Curriculum Music in the Senor School have attained very high levels of achievement in
Performance, Composition and Musicology in the QCAA course. Affirmation of a range of musicals styles and
genres is a vital principle underpinning this student engagement.
SCIENCE
Thirty-two enthusiastic Year 10 students attended the Science and Engineering Challenge held at James Cook
University in April. This competition takes place each year throughout Australia and this was the second year
that Townsville Grammar School entered a team. This whole day event saw a number of schools compete
against each other on STEM based projects. Some of these projects included building bridges, designing
catapults, constructing earthquake proof towers and building bionic hands. The challenge encouraged
students to explore scientific principles for themselves and to consider a future in Science and Engineering.
Our Scientist In Schools programme is in its twelfth year of collaboration with research scientists Professor
Natkunam Ketheesan (Immunology), Dr Jane Mellors (Aquatic Ecosystems) and Professor Mohan Jacob
(Biomaterials). The Year 9 students worked with Professor Ketheesan on infectious diseases and the
community vaccination programmes, the Year 11 Biology students worked with by Dr Mellors on seagrass
populations at Magnetic Island, and the Year 12 Physics students visited Professor Jacob's research laboratory
at the JCU campus to see the latest on materials development. This outstanding programme has given our
students an insight into the world of research scientists.
The National Youth Science Forum continues to be a highlight for our talented Year 11 Science students. This
forum gives students an opportunity to meet with scientists, researchers, academics and industry
representatives during a two week programme in January. It also gives students an opportunity to meet with
like-minded individuals and make friendships outside their own school, city and state. The selection process
is highly competitive as there are only a limited number of positions available.
The Vice-Chancellor's Science programme at QUT during the September holidays has, again, attracted the
highest achieving Year 11 Science students from across the state. The STEM (Science Technology Engineering
Mathematics) programme selects students to attend a fully funded project where they work on cutting-edge
Science projects with leading academics.
CAREERS, WORK EXPERIENCE AND VOCATIONAL EDUCATION
The Career and Personal Development programme was further developed for Year 10 students this year. In
this programme, students completed units on Work Experience preparation, study skills, career matching
and subject selection. Students also accessed many career development activities using the resources from
our TGS Career Website. Students are also guided in Year 10 to explore alternative pathways, including TAFE
and University subjects as part of their Senior Education and Training Plan.
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This year we had two Year 12 and ten Year 11 students undertaking Vocational Education Pathways through
TAFE or other institutes, completing courses in Engineering, Health Support and Business. In addition to this,
eight Year 11 students and one Year 10 student have committed to completing a School Based Traineeship in
areas such as Hospitality, Business and Boilermaking.
In terms of tertiary education options, we had two Year 11 students undertake tertiary education courses
while still at school, providing them with direct entry and extra bonus ATAR points to gain entry into any
university.
The Year 10 Work Experience programme was introduced in Activities Week in Term 1. Students had four
days in the workplace, learning important employability skills and engaging with others in our community.
The feedback from parents, employers and students for this experience was extremely positive. Additionally,
students in Years 11 and 12 have also taken the opportunity to explore the world of work by undertaking Work
Experience. This is a flexible programme where students are able to organise experience through an
employer at a time convenient to all parties. This year students undertook placements with employers in
technology, medicine and allied health care, dentistry, optometry, physiotherapy, law, engineering,
automotive services, veterinary surgeries and the defence force.
EDUCATIONAL SUPPORT CENTRE
The Educational Support Centre at the North Ward campus and Learning Support at the Junior School
campuses have continued to perform a vital role in supporting students with specific learning difficulties and
disabilities from Pre-Kindy to Year 12, thereby enhancing access and participation in educational
programmes and the learning environment. This has been achieved through the provision of the Literacy
Support programme across Years 7 to 10, and Literacy and Numeracy support programmes in Years 1 to 6.
Across all campuses at Townsville Grammar School, student support is delivered in a variety of ways
including: teacher aide support, in-class support, focused and targeted withdrawal support, as well as case
management of students with Individual Education Plans (IEPs), Student Support Plans (SSPs) and Individual
Curriculum Plans (I CPs). The Head of Educational Support at North Ward has also been working closely with
the Director of Studies and Careers Advisor regarding the implementation of the QCAA's new policy and
procedures regarding access arrangements and reasonable adjustments (AARA) for senior assessment.
THE CO-CURRICULAR LIFE OF THE SCHOOL
SPORT
Townsville Grammar School continues to grow its rich sporting programme that forms an essential part of
each student's schooling.
Throughout 2019, there have been many sporting highlights across all levels of competition. An increasing
number of students entered into events at the Swimming, Cross Country and Athletics Carnivals and greater
numbers were selected in TGS, Townsville and North Queensland representative teams. Our Club Sports
programme also saw some wonderful results.
It was a successful year for TGS Club Netball, with Grammar 1 finishing Premiers and five other teams making
finals. In 2019, our Rowers continued to build their reputation as one of the premier Rowing schools in North
Queensland. Second in both the Girls and Boys VIII at the Head of the River Regatta was a very pleasing finish
to the season.
Further to that, our Rugby programme turned a corner in its journey to become one of the north's most wellregarded Rugby schools, with our girls now joining the Rugby ranks. Our U14 Boys team reached the Grand
Final but fell just short of securing the premiership.
The year also saw Grammar continuing sports such as Fencing and Touch Football, with greater numbers of
students becoming involved in these sports. Cricket made its mark also, alongside Tennis and Run@Grammar.
The Run@Grammar programme yielded positive results at the Interschool Carnival and Swim@Grammar
continued to be well supported across Years 3 to 12. This was reflected in strong results at the Interschool
Swimming Carnival.
2019 saw many Grammar students representing their region, state and country. Five students gained
selection into Australian teams this year.
At a North Queensland level, more than 40 TGS students represented North Queensland.
The Interhouse Swimming, Cross Country and Athletics Carnivals were all tightly fought contests in 2019, and
gave our students a chance to display their competitiveness and House spirit.
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The McKimmin Mile, while not an official House Carnival, was also run with traditional eagerness and
excitement. Hodges took the honours in the Middle School Swimming Carnival, and followed that with
another resounding win in the Senior School Carnival. In the Cross Country it was Miller House who claimed
the top prize, while Whight House ruled the track and field taking first place at the Athletics Carnival. Overall,
it was Whight House who won the Grimsey Cup for Champion Girl House, while the Duffin Shield for
Champion Boy House was won by Miller House.
The Robertson Shield for Overall Champion House was won, in a very tight contest, by Miller House.
The 2019 Sports Awards Assembly recognised individual students for their North Queensland, Queensland
and Australian representation.
RUGBY

In Club Rugby, the School fielded six teams with 112 registered players in the Townsville and District Rugby
Union Competition. Our most successful team this year was the Under 14s who reached the Grand Final of
their competition for the second successive season, although the U12s also made it through to the semi-final
stage.
The School also fielded 7s teams in all age groups for the TDRU 7s tournaments including U12, U14 and U16
girls teams.
ROWING
The Grammar Rowing Team of 57 athletes excelled in 2019 with their season culminating in a successful Ail
Schools Head of the River Regatta in August, followed by excellent performances at the Queensland Schools
Championships.
At the All Schools Head of the River Regatta, the Boys 1st VIII and the Girls 1st VIII both placed second in hard
fought races. In overall point score, both the Boys' and Girls' teams placed third. During the September break,
TGS fielded a small team to contest the Queensland Schools State Championships at Wyaralong Dam in
Beaudesert. In all, our team featured in 24 events including four semi-finals and eight finals.
NETBALL
In Club Netball, the School had 16 teams participating in the Townsville City Netball Competition. At the end
of the regular season, six of the 14 eligible teams qualified for semi-finals.
THE ARTS
DEBATING
Debating at Townville Grammar School is a co-curricular activity, which encourages students to consider
relevant and contentious issues from different angles, to develop critical thinking skills and to broaden
perspectives. Debating has continued to be a popular and worthwhile co-curricular activity at Townsville
Grammar School in 2019.
Over 30 students, across eight teams, have participated in the Townsville Regional Debating Competition this
year. Additionally, one of our Junior Teams, Grammar 1, made it through to the semi-final round of this year's
competition.
Debating is an incredibly valuable endeavour for our students and is one which promotes the development of
valuable life and inter-personal skills. Through this co-curricular activity, students have had the opportunity
to interact with like-minded students from other schools, as well as the chance to challenge their worldviews
and to develop new friendships and relationships.
Debating also allows students to engage with topical and thought-provoking issues such as the value of
homework; the dangers of social networking for teens; and whether or not local communities should be able
to cap tourist numbers in their regions.
These relevant, and often controversial, topics have certainly challenged our students to develop critical
thinking skills and to consider perspectives other than their own.
It is particularly wonderful to note the enthusiasm and engagement of the Year 9 and 10 cohorts in this year's
debating competition. They were incredibly eager to participate in this activity and did so with great flair and
skill. This bodes well for the future of debating at Townsville Grammar School and it will be exciting to
observe the progress of these teams over the course of their schooling.
DRAMA
In August this year, 230 students delighted audiences with a contemporary version of The Tempest by William
Shakespeare. The Tempest is a play about the transition of a human being who learns through time to forfeit
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revenge for forgiveness and reconciliation with family and rivals. The Tentpest was directed by Ms Fiona Perry
and produced by Ms Yvonne West. Phenomenal costumes were hand-crafted by Mrs Jenni Ansic. The floods
forced a change of venue from the Civic Theatre to the Townsville Entertainment Centre, which created
challenges that were met with tenacity and ingenuity by school management, cast, musicians, crew and their
parents.
DANCE
We currently have two Grammar Dance Groups: Black and Gold. With growing interest in our co-curricular
Dance programme, Grammar Dance, a new uniform was designed for the students to wear for performances
and in classes. The new uniform singlet makes our dancers look professional, especially when attending off
campus events such as Townsville Eats and the Townsville Eisteddfod. Our dancers have some of the best
facilities in Townsville, with a mirrored studio including bars and sprung flooring; an outstanding space for
students to learn more about the Art of Dance beyond what they may gain in their private external studios.
CULTURAL AWARDS
This year, the 20th annual Cultural Awards Ceremony was held on the evening of Friday, 1 November. The
presentation ceremony, recipient supper and parent cocktail function provided an opportunity to
acknowledge our high achieving Creative Arts, Debating and Public Speaking students from Years 5 to 12.
Many of the School's outstanding young achievers were directly involved in performing or speaking
throughout the year.
GAVEL CLUB AND PUBLIC SPEAKING
Our young orators have performed well in both intra-school and external public speaking competitions, and
in debating teams throughout the year. Under the guidance of Ms Grace Loyd en, the Gavel Club has provided
a rich opportunity for students to improve their skills in the art of Public Speaking.
DUKE OF EDINBURGH AWARD
The Duke of Edinburgh's Award has been offered at Townsville Grammar School to encourage our students to
challenge themselves through setting and achieving goals across a range of activities. This internationally
recognised scheme provides an opportunity for students to develop skills, display initiative and build selfesteem and, consequently, is highly regarded by both university admissions officers and potential employers.
To assist our students to achieve their Awards a number of Adventurous Journeys are run throughout the
year. In March, candidates new to the programme participated in an Expedition Training day at the North
Ward Campus in order to learn about preparing and planning for their adventurous journey. In July Bronze
and Silver Award candidates from Years 10 and 11 had the opportunity to participate in one of two ocean
voyages on board the Queensland Sail Training vessel "South Passage". Award candidates spent 4 days and
nights learning how to sail and manage life aboard a large 30m gaff rigged schooner. The students sailed the
ship northwards through the Palm Island Group towards Hinchinbrook Island before taking command of the
vessel and returning the ship safely to the Port of Townsville. During August, Bronze Award candidates
completed an overnight Practice Expedition to Running River Gorge near Hidden Valley.
Then, in October, they completed their final Qualifying Expedition by exploring the rainforests and waterfalls
in the Mt Spec region near Paluma. In October, the Gold /Silver Award candidates completed a challenging
four-day trek along the historic Bullocky Toms Track as part of their Practice Expedition. This hike saw the
candidates navigate through a variety of terrains and vegetation types as well as traversing a number of creek
crossings.
OPTI-MINDS
In Term 3, Townsville Grammar School had three Middle School teams compete in the regional finals for
Opti-MINDS, a problem-solving challenge requiring students to explore sustainability while providing
innovative solutions to everyday problems. Each team comprised of between four and six Year 8 students,
competing in both the Science and Engineering and the Language Literature challenges.
Grammar 1 and 2 both entered the Language Literature challenge, with Grammar 1 receiving an Honours
award for their solution. These students were tasked to break down the concept of Wisdom in Literature,
exploring written, spoken and visual mediums to advertise, explain and entice members of the public to
attend their 'Works of Wisdom' (WOW) festival.
Grammar 3 proved themselves to be 'unashamedly excellent' and won their division. Their task was to create
a device capable of 'wisely relocating the Wizz- Dom monument to a new site high above the village', using
only sustainable materials to construct their machine.
16

COMMUNITY SERVICE
The Townsville Grammar School Community has continued its annual contributions to worthy causes in
2019. The School has a number of community service focussed groups supporting a wide variety of charities
and community minded initiatives.
The Townsville floods experienced at the start of the year impacted many families of our students and staff.
As a result, the Grammar community rallied to assist those affected by this extraordinary weather event,
assisting in the clean-up, donating spare books and uniforms and holding a free community BBQ to help feed
the volunteers assisting in the clean-up effort.
The Interact Club has, once again, led the charge in promoting community service within the School. The
Annual Food Appeal collected over 2,000 non-perishable food items from our School community to donate to
Food Relief NQ for distribution to needy people in the Townsville community. Interact again prepared 200
birthing kits for the Townsville Zonta Club, to help the safe and healthy delivery of newborns in third-world
countries.
Students in Year 10 and their Form Teachers fully
immersed themselves in their annual Community Service Project Day. The projects this year included
volunteering at the St Vincent De Paul Society, Landcare Australia, Cootharinga NQ and Townsville Foster
and Rehoming Animals, Good Shepherd Nursing Home and Ronald McDonald House.
The strong SunS mart message on lillian's Day continues to raise awareness of the prevention of skin cancer
for students from Pre-Prep to Year 12 on all 3-campuses of the School. This SunSmart dress day also attracts
generous donations from students and provides much needed funds to the Queensland Cancer Council.
Musicians Without Boarders continues to receive support from our Music Faculty. Donations received at
Music functions, Grammar Sings and Ensemble Showcase evenings are used by this charity to develop
projects that use music for healing and reconciliation in areas torn by war and conflict.
The Boarding community rallied together to raise funds for Dolly's Dream to assist in the well-being of young
people. Boarders also volunteered to help at the Weet-Bix TRYathlon and the Townsville Running Festival.
Other service initiatives have been Relay for Life, assisting athletes at The Challenge Games and our annual
Sony Camp.
The students of the Annandale and North Shore campuses continue to embrace community service
opportunities. The annual visits by students to the Villa Vincent Nursing Home and the Good Shepherd
Nursing Home are always warmly received and welcomed by the residents. The proceeds of the annual Disco,
Wacky Wigs and Spectacular Specs Day and Funky Hair Day were used to support Temesgen Arage, the
Junior School's Ethiopian foster child, Townsville flood victims and cancer research. Prep-Prep held Jeans for
Genes Day and Day for Daniel in support of these charities. Other community service activities and
fundraising included the Year 6 Community Clean Up and YWAM health and hygiene supplies.
STUDENT LEADERSHIP
Townsville Grammar School has, for the past 131 years, demonstrated a commitment to enabling students to
demonstrate leadership. As a member of a committee, captain, vice-captain, mentor, leader or by actively
involving themselves in one of the hundreds of school activities offered in 2019, students are given the
opportunity to be part of a team, lead through example and to encourage others to be the best that they can
be.
Leadership in a school is characterised by influence on others, enabling others to achieve at their potential.
The strength of leadership is demonstrated through the rapport fostered amongst the participants and the
ability of the group to achieve the desired outcome.
In 2019, there have been many occasions where school students have been challenged beyond their
capabilities, yet their final outcome has met the need, due to the collaboration, support and teamwork by all
members. Congratulations to our 2019 leaders on their support of peers and leading of the School
community.
PASTORAL CARE
In 2019, Pastoral Care was overseen by Head of School (North Ward) and Co-ordinator of Student Wellbeing
and Development.
The secondary role of these two new positions is focused on student wellbeing and development through the
three pillars of wellbeing and provision of Pastoral Care programmes and opportunities. The Three Pillars of
Student Wellbeing and Development are Positive Education, 'Be You' and Service.
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The Positive Education pillar references Townsville Grammar School's pastoral care framework and focuses
on wellbeing and development through classroom learning, year level specific domains and focus on
character strengths, theme weeks and a school-wide shared language and strengths based approach. This
year, the School, again, successfully implemented classroom and assembly based learning experiences
centring on our six Positive Education Domains and 24 Character Strengths, as well as delivering five focused
theme weeks across the four school terms. A rewarding example of a very successful learning experience of
2019 is to be found in the Year 7 programme. Year 7 students took the opportunity to demonstrate kindness
with younger students at North Shore campus by writing letters to the students in the five Pre to Year 4
classes. The younger students then wrote letters back. Cross-campus visits were also arranged to encourage
the development of genuine connections between the students.
'Be You', the second pillar of Student Wellbeing and Development, is a Federally funded, national programme
provided by Beyond Blue and headspace which was launched in November 2018. 'Be You' has been
incorporated into the TGS three pillars to fulfil a national priority to improve the mental health literacy of
school communities. Whilst Positive Education, and its underlying positive psychology and values basis,
strives to take students from coping; the objective of traditional psychology, to flourishing, the School's
decision to participate in the 'Be You' programme acknowledges the statistics which would suggest that 1 in 4
students in our School, and all schools, are not coping and are, thus, not in place to be elevated to flourishing.
The 'Be You' programme's integration into Townsville Grammar School pastoral care will be an ongoing
process which will be well-considered and tailored to the mental health priorities identified by our whole
School community, throughout 2020 and beyond.
The third pillar of Student Wellbeing and Development is Service. The Service pillar incorporates service
elements of the School's pastoral care programme which have existed for some time, such as the Junior
School's 'Melior Exi' programme and Year 10 Community Service projects, and also incorporates some new
and exciting Service learning opportunities for students.
2019 saw Townsville Grammar School students presented with their second opportunity to participate in the
Townsville Challenge Games and the School's second annual Sony Foundation' Children's Holiday Camp for
children with disabilities. The School has formed a partnership, as of this year and looking to the future, with
the Townsville Community Learning Centre State Special School. Year 10 and 11 volunteer students will
attend the annual Townsville Challenge Games and act as companions and buddies for the students from
TCLC, accompanying them to their events and helping them participate. This year, 45 TGS students attended
and assisted 145 TCLC students. At the commencement of the September school holidays, 64 Year 11
students; acting as companions, and 16 Year 12 students; in the roles of mentors and helpers, enabled 29
children with disabilities to attend and enjoy our second annual Sony Foundation Camp. Each of the 29
campers had two to three Year 11 students as companions who assisted them with their daily requirements,
as needed, and also engaged them in the array of activities developed and facilitated by the Year 12 mentors
and Camp staff. The campers enjoyed mini-lessons in STEM, cooking, music, dance and drama and other
activities as diverse as yoga and mindfulness to obstacle courses and kite making. On the final day of the
Camp, campers' families joined their children for a Fair Day which was enjoyed by all.
2019 saw the advent of the inaugural North Ward Camps and Activities Week, in the last week of Term 1. This
week eventuated as a constructive way to steamline the School Calendar and have all of the traditional camps
held at one time and to reduce disruptions to the School's "time on task" ethos. In its eventual realisation it
became much more than a convenience and provided every student from Year 7 to12 with opportunities to
develop and benefit from a broader, more holistic educational programme. Year 7 students continued to
attend the much-loved Positive Relationships Camp at Lake Tinaroo. The camp programme included a range
of outdoors activities, such as abseiling and ropes courses to develop their self-confidence, and quieter, more
reflective activities, such as reading pre-written letters, which encouraged the development of stronger
relationships amongst the cohort. Year 8s also ventured off to another much-anticipated camp, the 'Survivor
Camp', at Camp Kanga, near Proserpine. Two additional tribes were added to the mix, in 2019, to allow for all
of the Year 8s being at camp for the full week and this enhanced the traditional excitement and rivalry across
the grade. The Year 9 Camp, under the focus of 'Positive Health' became a health and wellbeing retreat at
Amaroo Resort on Magnetic Island. The students explored ways and measures to enhance their health and
wellbeing: painting, yoga, seminars on sleep and relaxation and sexual health and learning self-defence,
amongst other extremely worthwhile activities. The world of work was the focus for Year lOs who undertook
a week of work experience across a wide and diverse range of jobs and professions. The Year 11 Leadership
Conference, traditionally held in Term 3, was moved to Term 1 and elongated to a four-day experience. Along
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with the usual whole cohort components, this year's conference involved staff developing and presenting
different break-out sessions to encourage the students to think about leadership. Resume building and
potential future pathways were the focus of the Year 12 Positive Purpose Week. Our seniors completed TAFE
certifications, a full day First Aid course and had several off-campus visits to local universities and the RAAF
base, to broaden their horizons.
The inaugural Camps and Activities Week was a resounding success and is something students are looking
forward to in 2020.
JUNIOR SCHOOLS

2019 will go down as an extraordinary year, which commenced with the biggest flood Townsville has endured
in recent history. Due to our Annandale campus location this event affected many families in our community.
Of course this disrupts the routine and stability of life. However, from the very outset, the one common
denominator for all involved was the stability of the School. Townsville Grammar School has been a rock for
many of these families throughout this year. The School has been able to nurture and create the caring
environment necessary for students and parents to establish routine and continuity. With that in mind, we
have been able to guide all students through the full suite of programmes which Townsville Grammar School
offers: academic, cultural, physical and pastoral.
NORTH SHORE
Now completing its third year of operation, the North Shore campus is starting to mature in many ways. It
still has the intimate, boutique feel of a young school, but now enjoys the maturity of numerous specialist
teachers in Music, Drama, French, PE, STEM and Library. 2020 will see the campus expand to seven classes
from Prep to Year 5. The North Shore students have joined with their peers from Annandale for Sporting and
Cultural events but have enjoyed many successful separate community events including their Art Show and
Spring Concert, Easter Bonnet Parade, Mothers' Day, Fathers' Day and Grandparents and Special Friends' Day.
The Campus reflects the high quality, best practice learning environment that has always been in place at
Annandale, but is developing a flavour and personality all of its own and we thank the families and students
enrolled at North Shore for their continued support and investment in our community.
POSITIVE EDUCATION
The Positive Education programme continues to provide the framework for our School's Pastoral Care
programme. The children and staff continually teach and use the explicit language of the programme and
highlights of each weekly Assembly are the Positive Character Strength Certificates presented to a child from
each class. Meditation, mindfulness exercises and journaling are regular features of the programme with
which the children are involved.
THE ACADEMIC PROGRAMME
The Junior School continues to focus on the key learning areas of English, Mathematics, Science, Humanities,
STEM and the integration of ICT across these areas. Classroom teachers use a variety of strategies aimed to
enhance the implementation of the curriculum and engage students with their learning.
STEM continues to be one of the subjects favoured by students. Now in its third year of operation, led by
Miss Shandelle O'Reilly, STEM offers a hands-on project based subject, full of wonder and discovery.
Community relationships are an important part of this programme and 2019 saw James Cook University
Lecturers, Conrad Hosking and Eric Roberts, Birdlife Townsville, Townsville City Council, Townsville Gem
and Mineral Club, CQ University and Uncle Alfred - Binda! Elder, become involved with our students.
The use of IT within the classrooms continues to strengthen and is an integral part of many subject areas.
The recent acquisition of 48 iPads across both junior campuses as well as the extensive array of laptops, has
made for exciting learning and exploration for the students. Prep and Year 1 students, in particular, fully
engage with learning with iPads. Further opportunities for ICT within STEM has enhanced the programme,
with iPads, laptops and 3D printers now becoming integral to everyday learning.
The Junior School Writing Competition showcased the creative and persuasive writing talents of all students
in Years 3 to 6. This annual event is now in its ninth year and, combined with our 'Big Write' programme, has
a positive impact on the writing levels in the School. This year is the sixth year of the presentation of the
Colin Bingham Medal. Mr Bingham was a Grammarian who became a successful journalist and author.
THE CO-CURRICULAR PROGRAMME
CHESS
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Chess continues to be an activity of choice here at our Junior Schools, with regular chess clubs being held at
both campuses. We participated strongly in the three rounds of the NQ District Chess tournaments with
varying degrees of success at both a team and individual level.
PUBLIC SPEAKING
Term 3 saw the students in Years 4 to 6 develop their public speaking skills within their classrooms and be
involved in the annual Public Speaking Competition. It was wonderful to have a number of the Year 11 English
students come along to then oversee the running and adjudication of the competition.
MUSIC
Over 140 Instrumental lessons take place each week delivered by the 14 tutors who visit the Annandale
Campus. There are also five piano and four guitar students at North Shore, and Mr Hawker has commenced a
Guitar Ensemble there which rehearses weekly. Andante is the Junior School's largest Ensemble with 29 on
the roll and Band has 17 regular attendees. Recorder and Guitar ensembles also rehearse weekly, as do the
Recorder Quartet and Flute Duo.
Annandale continues to have three choirs: Minors for Years 1 to 3 whose numbers have grown steadily
throughout the year; the Boys Choir who meet several weeks prior to a performance to rehearse popular
repertoire; and Majors Choir for Years 4 to 6. North Shore students have also formed a choir to perform at
School events like Mother's Day, Grandparent's Day and their Spring Concert.
SPORT
2019 saw a full and successful complement of sporting activities for students from Pre- Prep to Year 6. In our
House Sports competition, students had the opportunity to participate in a Swimming, Cross Country and
Athletics carnival with fierce competition between each of the House teams. Hodges House were the
champion team for Swimming and Athletics, whilst Rowland took out the Cross Country title. At the
Interschool Carnivals Townsville Grammar placed fourth in Swimming; at the Cross Country, we had three
students qualify for the NQ trials; and at the Athletics we placed fourth with our boys placing third.
Our Year 6 students toured to Cairns to play Rugby Union, Netball and Soccer against Holy Cross, Trinity
Anglican School and Redlynch State College. The students benefited greatly from this experience. This year
we had a number of students achieve personal sporting success by representing North Queensland and
Queensland.
Year 5 and 6 students competed on a weekly basis as part of Townsville School Sport (TSS) Interschool Sport
competition. This gives the Junior School students the opportunity to participate in a wide variety of sports in
which they may not normally get the chance to play. Townsville Grammar School is one of the few schools
who participate in all available sports each week, which is a testament to the commitment of the children in
our community.
COMMUNITY SERVICE
It has been another successful year with regards to the Junior School's contribution to Community Service.
The Community Service Captains did a wonderful job of leading the Community Service Team and students
to be involved in some creative and fun filled fundraisers. Our Wacky Wigs and Spectacular Specs Day started
the fundraising for the year. One of our closest neighbouring schools, Oonoonba State School, had been
severely hit by the flood so it was decided to donate the proceeds of the day to them. Along with a generous
donation of $400 from the Queensland Branch of the Independent Primary Schools Head Association, we
presented Oonoonba State School with a cheque for $1200.
Our Cybersational Disco in Term 2 was a raging success with our Year 3 to 6 students having a fabulous time
on the dance-floor and dressing up in Internet inspired costumes. The event raised $950 which we donated
to Rare Cancer Australia for their ongoing research into the treatment of rare cancers. Funky Hair Day saw an
array of weird and wacky hairstyles at both our Annandale and North Shore Campuses.
At Annandale we raised $420 to support the Tsion Mariam School in Ethiopia and at North Shore, $150 was
raised and donated to Ronald McDonald House Charites.
YWAM Ambassadors spearheaded the drive for health and hygiene supplies for YWAM's work in Papua New
Guinea. A pleasing supply of toothpaste, soaps, medical supplies and health supplies were gratefully accepted
byYWAM.
OPTI-MINDS
During Term 3, two teams of students proudly represented Townsville Grammar Junior School in the OptiMINDS Challenge for 2019. Each team was comprised of seven students from Years 5 and 6. Opti-MINDS
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encourages excellence in creativity, thinking strategies, problem-solving, teamwork and communication
skills.

BOARDING
"Home is where the heart is" and this is so true when you are a Townsville Grammar School boarder. A true
sense of belonging continues to be the standout feature of our vibrant and diverse boarding cohort. With
boarders from all corners of the world, TGS Boarding provides a great example of demonstrating that when a
community engages with the strengths of difference, some amazing outcomes are not just possible, but a
reality.
Townsville Grammar School continues to offer a leading boarding programme in terms of residential
curriculum and pastoral care. Our wide-ranging activities programme, academic support framework,
individualised care of boarders through our health and wellbeing team, access to School facilities and our
fortunate location in the very heart of Townsville city, are just some of the features TGS Boarders are
fortunate to enjoy.
Early in 2019 saw the completion of two major works projects, both equally transformational to the ParkerHall Building. The Boarding Reception has added a welcoming space for parents and boarders to meet and
greet. It has been instrumental in bringing that team together, the Head of Boarding is now easily accessible
to the boarders. To that end, the new entranceway and lift has enabled the Houses to come alive with ease of
accessibility not just for the day to day traffic of boarders, but to parents and guests visiting their boarders.
The Boarder Parent Support Group has proved invaluable in supporting the work boarding does for their
children. This year saw the initiatives of the Boarder Families' BBQ at the commencement of Term 3, and the
Boarder Parent Appreciation BBQ at the commencement of Term 4. These casual occasions have provided a
useful opportunity for not only our boarding parents to make connections within our own community, but to
invite parents of day school students into our boarding world and to say thanks to those who assist in
boarder weekend leave and co-curricular transport. The Boarder Parent Support Group will continue to meet
on the Boarder Travel Day at the start of each term, and look for ways to support an already vibrant boarding
operation in the years to come.
It is always a rewarding opportunity to tour hometown regions of our boarders throughout the year, and 2019
has been no exception. Townsville Grammar School staff had the pleasure of visiting many of our NorthWestern Queensland families, with visits to Charters Towers, Clermont, Julia Creek, Cloncurry, Hughenden,
Richmond, Normanton, Croydon and Mt Isa. Our connection and commitment to support the ICPA continues
to strengthen, as we became involved with both the Clermont and Charters Towers Sports Camps and the Mt
Isa Sports for Bush Kids Week. TGS has a longstanding history and commitment in educating the young men
and women of these areas, of which we are very proud. We are committed to continuing this well into the
future. In addition to our regional visits, this year also had us visiting our international families in Hong Kong
and Papua New Guinea.
After 131 years of boarding, our commitment to serving our boarders and their families has never been
stronger. Our understanding of what it means to be a boarder, as well as the hardships which our families
endure, is why I believe our boarding community is one that continues to flourish and truly be a home away
from home.

IT INFRASTRUCTURE
Our telephone systems across the three campuses have been replaced and consolidated into a single new LG
Ericsson PABX, taking advantage of recent updates to the network, and allowing a complete move to IP
Telephony. The new system was installed over the JunejJuly holiday period, and included replacement of
existing phones, installation of phones into some new areas (including our Year 7 classrooms) and an
opportunity to perform a clean setup of the entire system. Incoming calls are now easier to manage when
staff are not at their desk, due to greater flexibility in backend setup for call groups, diversions, and call
forwarding. This has led to improvements in our customer service through a higher rate of call resolution at
first point of contact, rather than relying on voicemail and call backs.
Future plans for the telephone system include expansion of the current school bell network and lockdown
alarms to utilise the phone external speakers to ensure full coverage of the School for bells and alarms.
As a result of feedback from our parent community and research into modern reporting techniques, our
academic report framework has been completely overhauled. The new reports combine new reporting scales
and a more constructive methodology for providing comments, as well as a new layout and appearance. The
result has received widespread positive feedback, as parents are provided with information on their child's
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progress, as well as in areas they can improve. The new framework was developed entirely in-house,
including the creation and review of hundreds of potential comments for each subject area and a new system
of review and quality control implemented in the reporting lifecycle.
Our boarding area has received a major facelift, which has resulted in a much more welcoming and accessible
boarding experience, and improved accessibility with the installation of a new elevator. As part of this,
electronic door access has been implemented to key areas, providing not only audit logs of entry and exit, but
also the ability to schedule door locks and alarms to facilitate a smoother boarding experience and higher
levels of automation and security.
Being a Pre-Kindy to Year 12 school, our technology requirements and uses vary considerably through the
year levels. At the younger end of the school, the focus is on being "quick to task". At these early years,
starting up and logging into a laptop can be distracting and time consuming, whereas tablet technology is
instantly on and ready to access. With the gradual maturing of Apple iPad technology and device
management, these devices can now be centrally managed, with apps able to be purchased in bulk and
remotely installed. Devices managed in this way remain consistent and do not change between uses, assuring
a repeatable classroom experience for our students.
Our two Junior School campuses now have access to sets of five iPads with accompanying teacher iPads.
These iPad sets are booked for use as required. Apps can be purchased centrally and moved between devices
remotely as required. To ensure portability and security, the iPad sets are housed in lockable charging
stations that are secured, but can be moved between classes.
PAST GRAMMARIANS
This year we celebrated 131 years of Townsville Grammar School and our Grammar @ Home weekend on the
second Saturday in August was a great occasion to reflect on the long and proud history in which we all
share. On Saturday, 10 August, the School hosted a full day of activities, commencing with a morning brunch.
A brave team of Past Grammarians took on current students in a heartfelt game of Touch Football. Whilst
both sides claimed victory, the referee forgot to score so that game was declared a draw. Emboldened by this
outcome, everyone was invited to take part in the Tug-o-War, however, there was no doubting the youth and
sheer numbers of the current students who were victorious again the Alumni team.
A more formal part of the day followed, as our alumni took a stroll literally down memory lane with current
boarders taking the groups on a tour of their school of 2019. Over 100 members of our community took part
in the tours and strolled through their old school regaling current students with "how things were in their
day".
Everyone retired for the afternoon to gather energy whilst preparations were made for the Alumni Dinner,
this year held in the Middle School Plaza. One hundred and twelve guests helped to make this a memorable
evening. They were entertained by musical and dance groups comprised of current students and School
Captain of 1999, Ryan Kelly, proposed the toast to the School.
Of the year levels represented, 1969, 1979, 1989, 1999, and 2009, the largest contingent were drawn from 1989.
Current staff member, Mia Ohlin (12/2009) even treated her alumni cohort to a "lesson" in her Year 7
classroom! Our most senior Past Grammarian in attendance was Mr Foster Barton who is now 94 years
young.
The School would particularly like to acknowledge Mr Jack Callcott, President of the Past Grammarians
Association for his attendance and Mrs Rebecca Paterson for her superb organisation of this Grammar @
Home day.
PARENTS NETWORK
In 2019, the Parents Network supported the School community by providing services such as organising and
staffing a canteen at the Senior School Cross Country and Athletics carnivals, running the popular secondhand Textbook Shop and providing a gift for departing seniors. This year, the Network hosted a "Back to the
80s Trivia Night" in our School Gymnasium. It was a great opportunity for our community to come together
and socialise, with many fabulous 80s outfits on show.
The Network has supported the Senior Science Department by replacing electronic balances and installing a
new flammable liquids cupboard. We provided a giant chess set for our budding chess enthusiasts at the
North Shore Junior School Campus, and have committed to funding the new School mascot costume.
BLACK AND GOLD
On the last Friday before Mothers' Day 75 mothers, including a couple of lucky fathers, from all three
campuses of the School gathered at A Touch of Salt in a wonderful celebration of motherhood. Trivia
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questions and a champagne tree along with the Cent Sale saw many guests go home complete with their own
gifts for Mothers' Day the following Sunday.
Every second year the Black & Gold facilitate a Carnival, based at our Annandale campus. It is anticipated
with great excitement, and this year was no different. Children from Pre-Kindy at our North Shore campus,
right through to Year 6 at our Annandale campus, all dressed up and performed the Bollywood-style dances
that they had practiced all term. They were superb! The smiles on the faces of the children, and their proud
parents and grandparents, lit up the night.
The children also enjoyed a wide array of rides and parent volunteers also ensured that everyone had a good
variety of food and beverages to be able to replenish themselves after all of their efforts at entertaining us.
Family support for this event was incredible and very much appreciated as it certainly made the Carnival a
great event for all involved. All funds raised from the Carnival will directly benefit the children through
purchases of items needed by the children to better their co-curricular activities in the School, such as Music
and Drama.
A Touch of Salt was again the venue for our inaugural Fathers' Day Long Lunch. This was an enthusiastic
gathering of 55 fathers, and a few brave mothers. The highlight of the afternoon was an interview of John
Collins (JC) by two members of our Black & Gold Committee. Ange and Tanya grilled JC on his years as bass
player of the Australian band, Powderfinger, and also regarding his subsequent entrepreneurship in
establishing two new major music venues in Brisbane - The Triffid and The Fortitude Music Hall. JC fielded
questions from our panel and then answered questions from the guests, all with great humour and patience.
The School is very grateful to John for making time to be with us for this luncheon.
The Black & Gold Committee has been superbly led by Chelsea Papageorge over many years and this year
Chelsea has let us know that she will be stepping down as Convenor at the end of 2019, although will still be
helping out where needed. Another stalwart of the Black & Gold Committee for over ten years is Angela
Williams who will officially step down from the committee at the end of 2019.
My sincere thanks to all of the parents who volunteer of their time and effort through the Black & Gold
Committee, and of special note, I thank Chelsea and Ange for their years of service.
SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM
The Senior Management Team of Townsville Grammar School represents the senior leadership group of the
School. It comprises the Principal, Deputy Principal- Mr Steven Morris, Business Manager Mr Greg Walsh,
Director of Studies- Mr Stephen Monk, Head of School (North Ward)- Mr Connor Barrett, Head of Junior
School Mr Noel Nethery, Head of Boarding- Mr Jaye Beutel, Director of Enrolments Mrs Kristell Scott,
and the Director of Marketing - Ms Julie Plath. This group meets weekly to consider the operational activities
of the School with a focus on continually improving the School's programme. I have been fortunate to have
been supported by this group of dedicated and highly capable individuals and I thank them for their counsel,
patience and passion.
Furthermore, my Professional Assistant, Mrs Nadene Moorhouse, became the longest serving member of the
School staff this year in her 36th year. I wish to acknowledge Nadene for her significant contribution to
Townsville Grammar School and thank her for the assistance she provides me in our busy office.
THE SCHOOL'S BOARD OF TRUSTEES
There are eight original Grammar Schools in Queensland, each one being a Statutory Authority. These
member schools are Townsville Grammar School, Toowoomba Grammar School, Brisbane Grammar School,
Brisbane Girls Grammar School, Rockhampton Grammar School, Rockhampton Girls Grammar School,
Ipswich Grammar School and Ipswich Girls Grammar School. Each of these schools is run by body known as
the Board of Trustees. Every Board consists of between seven and nine members who offer their services on
a voluntary basis to oversee the finance, infrastructure and long-term planning of these schools. As Principal,
I report to our Board of Trustees.
I am extremely grateful to the Trustees - the Chairman of the Board of Trustees, Brigadier, His Honour Judge
Stuart Durward, Mr John Johnson, Mr Grant Bell, Professor Chris Cocklin, Ms Alison Johnson, Mr Bob McKay
and Mrs Debbie Rains - for the support I receive from them and their contribution to the corporate
governance of the School. These men and women are not involved in the day-to-day management of the
School. Rather their role is to examine and initiate matters relating to the strategic planning of the School
and its future direction and to oversee the financial and physical infrastructure of the School. The Board
members do not receive payment for their involvement in the life of the School, yet give generously of their
time, which is a testament to their commitment to our institution. I thank them most sincerely for their
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efforts. The entire school community is most grateful to them for the time they devote to school matters and
their intelligent and thoughtful analysis of all matters brought to them for consideration.
CONCLUSION
It is my pleasure to have had the opportunity of reporting on yet another year in the annals of Townsville
Grammar School. The School enjoys an excellent and well-deserved reputation in Australian education and
this has come from the combined efforts of all staff and students, together with the support of parents and
the wise governance of the Board of Trustees. I consider it to be a great honour to be the Principal of this
wonderful School. In concluding this Report, my wife Nicky joins me in wishing the entire School Community
a joyous Christmas and a Happy New Year. Thank you for your support of Townsville Grammar School in
2019. Bonus Intra, Melior Exi.
TIMOTHY J. KELLY
Principal
November 2019

SERVICES PROVIDED:
2019 Middle Years
The Middle Years Curriculum, Years 7 to 9, was organised around the Key Learning Areas. At Townsville
Grammar School students study a core curriculum across these years electing a specific Modern Language
option or Literacy Support. In Year 7, students undertook a semesterised Modern Language course and
studied one semester of French and one semester of Japanese. In Year 8 students can select the language of
their choice.
Students requiring literacy support were withdrawn from Modern Language classes to receive specialised
support. Art and Design & Technology were studied on a semester rotation. In Years 7 and 8, all students
studied Visual Art, Design and Technology, Music, Performing Arts, Health and Physical Education with
specialist teachers.
Year 7 students also studied Food Technology. In Year 8, students also studied Information Technology with a
specialist teacher. In Year 8, one class per fortnight was dedicated to Reading. In Year 9, students chose four
subjects from electives to study over the whole year.
Subjects offered include:
Year7

English
Mathematics
Science
History & Geography
Health & Physical Education
2 x Modern Languages*:
Japanese/French, or Literacy
Support
Art
Design and Technology
Food Technology
Music
Performing Arts

Year9

YearS

English
Mathematics
Science
History
Geography
Health and Physical Education
Art * I Design & Technology *
Modern Language:
Japanese/French or Literacy
Support
Music
Performing Arts
Information Technology

English
Mathematics
Science
History
Geography
Health and Physical Education
Art
Business Studies
Design and Technology
Drama
Japanese/French/Italian or
Literacy Support
Information Technology
Music

*Six months rotation
2019 Senior School
In 2019, Years 10, 11 and 12 studied 6 subjects. In Year 10, all students studied three (3) core subjects, English,
Mathematics and at least one of Natural or Physical Sciences. Students then elected three options from the
electives below:
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•

•
•
•
•

Applied
Technology
Art
Business Studies
Dance
Design
Technology

•

Drama

•

Hospitality

•

Music

•

*ESL
French
Geography
History

•
•
•

Information Technology
Italian
Japanese
*Literacy Support

•
•
•
•

# Natural Sciences
Philosophy
Physical Education
# Physical Sciences

•
•
•

•

* By invitation only
# For students who choose to do both Sciences, one will count as an elective
Years 11 & 12 Curriculum
The curriculum provision was flexible and allowed a student to be directed towards entry into the Faculties
of Universities in Australia and into the Schools of all Institutes of Technology and Advanced Education, the
Agriculture Colleges, the Rural Training Schools, and the professions, trades and occupations in general. In
2019 the School continued the International Baccalaureate Diploma, an internationally recognised tertiary
preparation programme. Specific vocational subjects were offered at Years 11 and 12 and the School
continues to promote students' participation in School-based apprenticeships and traineeships to provide
preparation for employment in the competitive labour market that faces schoolleavers today.
STAFF INFORMATION
During 2019 the School employed 207.6 FTE employees, 95.0 teaching staff and 107.8 ancillary staff members
and had a Permanent Separation Rate of 12%. Employment flexibility is accommodated to the extent that it
can however the School environment is structured and inflexible. The School seeks to attract and retain staff
by being the pre-eminent School in North Queensland.

Number of FTE Staff
Teaching Staff
Senior
Junior

61.9
33.1

95.0
Non-Teaching Staff
Boarding Staff
Total Staff
LIST OF SENIOR OFFICERS
Principal

Deputy Principal (Operations)
Director of Boarding
Head of Junior School
Head of School (North Ward)
Director of Studies
Director of Enrolments
Director of Marketing
Business Manager & Secretary
to the Board of Trustees

95.5
17.1

207.6

Mr T.Kelly B.Econ.,
B.Bus(Acc).,
Grad.Dip.Ed.,
M.Ed.Studies, MACE, MACEL
Mr S. Morris M.Ed., M.App.Sc., M.Mus.St., B.Mus.,
Grad.Dip.Ed., MACEL, FIML, GAICD
Mr J.Beutel BA, BLM, AdvDipMus, AssocDipBus
Mr N. Nethery B.Ed., Dip. Teach, Grad.Cert.Ed.,
MACE
Mr C.Barrett BPhysEd, BEd, AssocDeg SocSc, MEd
Leadership, MACE, MACEL
MrS. Monk, B.Sc, Grad.Dip.Ed., Grad.Dip.Comp.Sc.
Mrs K. Scott B.A., Dip.Ed.
Ms J.Plath BAdmin (Tourism), MPubRel
MrG. Walsh
B.Comm., MBA, GradDipCSP (GI of A), ADipCivEng.,
FCPA, FGIA, FCIS

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMMES
The on-going professional development of the staff at Townsville Grammar School is actively encouraged
through subject faculties, and is co-ordinated by the Director of Studies. The School has a significant
Professional Development budget to provide opportunities for staff to attend professional development
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programmes and for professional development on designated student-free days throughout the year.
During 2019 staff attended various professional development activities, receiving professional development
funding when required. Each semester a professional development newsletter is prepared and published to
all staff and the Trustees. Each staff member is required to prepare a precis of the professional development
and the outcomes gained.
PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS
Financial and Administration System

The School administration system is provided by a software package known as The Alpha School System
(TASS).
The package is a complete school performance management system covering student and family
administration, curriculum, timetable and financials. The financial module is a completely interfaced
accounting package that enables the school executive team to manage the school efficiently and produce
timely and accurate monthly reports to the Board of Trustees. The systems in place allow the Board to
monitor the school's financial and operational performance in accordance with the FinanciaL and
Performance Management Standard 2019. The School keeps full and accurate records of its activities.
Benchmarking

Each year the national body of the Association of School Bursars and Administrators (ASBA) commissions
Somerset Education to conduct an Independent Schools Financial Survey. Schools participating in the survey
are provided with a report by Somerset Education which provides financial benchmarks for the School.
The School participated in the survey during 2019 with respect to the 2018 financial data.
The Board considered the report provided by Somerset Education comparing the School's performance
against schools of similar SES both within the State and nationally. As the School's 2018 performance was
within the recommended guidelines no remedial action was taken. Key benchmarks were incorporated into
the 2020 budget for the Board's consideration.
Board Reporting

The Board of Trustees is provided with detailed financial and operational reports on a monthly basis.
The Operational Report is in the form of a report from the Principal that covers strategic matters such as
staffing and enrolments as well as day-to-day activities.
The Financial Report is provided by the Board Secretary and contains:
•
Statement of Financial Performance by month year to date;
•
Variance Analysis of actual revenues and costs against budget;
•
Cash Flow Projections;
Finance Report;
•
•
Property Report;
•
Debtors Report;
•
Statement of Financial Position at the month end;
•
Key Performance Indicators against benchmarks set by education specialists for
comparable schools such as:
o Revenues per Student;
o Net Operating Margins;
o Staff Pupil Ratios;
o Full Time Equivalent Staff Numbers;
o Capital Debt per Student.
The Finance Committee of the Board meets prior to Board meetings to review the Financial Report. This
committee consists of the Chairman of the Board of Trustees, a Trustee who is a chartered accountant, the
Principal and the Board Secretary. A report from this meeting is included in Board papers distributed to the
Board. The School does not have an internal audit committee as it is felt the Finance Committee provides
adequate audit control. Finance Committee members attend the annual audit exit meeting.
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A review of the school's systems for compliance with the Financial Management and Performance Standard
2009 is provided as part of the audit process carried out by the Queensland Audit Office.
RISK MANAGEMENT
The School developed a formal system for Risk Management during 2017. This Risk Management Framework
will be rolled during 2020 to form an integral management function. Risks will be considered and reviewed by
senior management throughout the year. Such reviews will be presented to the Board via the Risk
Management Committee in summary form. Changes to risks will be recommended if deemed necessary. In
addition to this, the School, with other Grammar Schools, has produced a comprehensive Financial
Management Practice Manual as required by S61 of the Financial Accountability Act 2009.This manual
provides detailed policy guidelines by which the School can operate effectively while providing a high level of
accountability. The Board regularly reviews reports against the stated Risk Management Manual and
Guidelines.

In addition to the Grammar Schools' risk management manual, the School has prepared staff handbooks for
both academic and non-academic staff. The handbook covers the following policy headings: administration,
boarding, co-curriculum, curriculum, emergency procedures, excursions and camps, facilities and resources,
medical, staff and students. The manual provides policies and procedures designed to minimize day-to-day
risk. These policies will fall under the risk management framework.
SPECIAL INTEREST GROUPS/RELATED ENTITES
The Townsville Grammar School Parents Network and Black & Gold Ladies maintained an active interest in
the School and carried out a number of fund raising ventures during 2019.
INFORMATION SYSTEMS AND RECORDKEEPING
The School makes full and accurate records of its activities. Recordkeeping is a systematic part of the
School's activities and records are identified, captured and retained in an accessible and useable format. The
School is working towards compliance with the prescribed Records Governance Policy. All paper records are
now stored off site in a commercial records management facility that facilitates accessibility, discoverability,
protection and destruction. The School has plans to establish a dedicated School archive to house historic
records and artefacts as part of the School House renovation that will continue in 2020. It is envisaged that a
dedicated Archivist will be employed to manage the facility.
OPEN DATA
Information regarding Consultancies and Overseas travel is published on the School's website and on the
Open Data website https:fjdata.qld.gov.au.
FORWARD PLANS
FACILITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE

•
School House Refurbishment- Planning for the restoration of the heritage listed School House
continued in 2019. Since the approval process was initiated in 2011, significant progress has been made
toward the full restoration of School House. During 2019 the School completed the lift installation and
internal layout design and heritage approval has been completed and work will start in early 2020. The
building will be functional by the second half of 2020.
•
North Shore Campus - This will continue to grow by one year level annually. 2020 will see the
introduction of year 5 to the campus. A double classroom modular building was installed in late 2019 to
accommodate 2020 growth.
SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
In 2019 Townsville Grammar School had a surplus from ordinary activities, after interest and depreciation of
$288,886. This compares with a surplus of $957,806 for the previous year.
This result was achieved on revenues of $29 million.
The final cash position at the end of 2019 was $6.1 million in cash and investments.
A copy of the 2019 Annual Financial Statements of the Board prepared pursuant to section 62(1) of the
Financial Accountability Act 2009 (the Act), Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for- Profits
Commission Act 2012, relevant sections of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2019, and
other prescribed requirements is attached.
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Debt and liquidity ratio graphs appear on page 30 of the report.

GLOSSARY:

ATAR- Australian Tertiary Admissions Rank
GBRMPA- Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority
IB - International Baccalaureate
ICT- Information and Communication Technology
JCU - James Cook University
NAPLAN - National Assessment Program Literacy and Numeracy
OP - Overall Position
QCM - Qld Curriculum & Assessment Authority
STEM - Science, Technology, Engineering, Mathematics
TASS- The Alpha School System
TCC - Townsville City Council
TGS - Townsville Grammar School
YWAM- Youth with a Mission
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This financial report covers TOWNSVILLE GRAMMAR SCHOOL as an individual not for
profit entity. The financial report is presented in the Australian currency.
The Townsville Grammar School is established under the provisions of the Grammar Schools
Act 2016.
TOWNSVILLE GRAMMAR SCHOOL is a not for profit school domiciled in Queensland,
Australia. Its principal place of business is:
TOWNSVILLE GRAMMAR SCHOOL
45 Paxton Street
l'!"orth Ward QLD 4810
The financial report was authorised for issue by the Townsville Grammar School on
25 February 2020.

TOWNSVILLE GRAMMAR SCHOOL
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

NOTE

2019

2018

$

$

REVENUE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

2

29,124,755

29,576,557

Employee expenses
Supplies and services
Depreciation
Finance/borrowing costs
Other expenses

3
5

(19,370,257)
(6,896,241)
(1 ,313,189)
(865,167)
(391,014)

(19,132,223)
(6,867,654)
(1,335,001)
(963,187)
(320,687)

288,887

957,806

171,974

62,711

Total other comprehensive income

171,974

62,711

Total comprehensive income

460,861

1,020,517

10a
6
7

Operating result from continuing operations
Other comprehensive Income
lncrease/(Decrease) in asset revaluation surplus

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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TOWNSVILLE GRAMMAR SCHOOL
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

Note
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Total Current Assets

2019

2018

$

$

8
9

6,076,224
833,741
389,532
562,198
7,861,695

8,133,023
814,332
390,765
661,392
9,999,513

10

66,874,452
66,874,452

65,683,217
65,683,217

74,736,147

75,682,730

11
12
13

1,851,064
1,794,146
1,710,228
5,355,438

1,806,277
1,599,370
1,721,370
5,127,017

12
13

11,694,492
611,057
12,305,549

13,264,846
676,568
13,941,413

TOTAL LIABILITIES

17,660,987

19,068,430

Net Assets

57,075,160

56,614,300

15,544,596
41,530,564
57,075,160

15,372,622
41,241,678
56,614,300

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Total Non-Current Assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables
Other financial liabilities
Accrued employee benefits
Total Current Liabilities
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other financial liabilities
Accrued employee benefits
Total Non-Current Liabilities

EQUITY
Reserves
Retained surplus
Total Equity

14

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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TOWNSVILLE GRAMMAR SCHOOL
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Retained Surpluses

Asset Revaluation
Surplus

Total

$

$

s

Balance as at 1 January 2018
Operating result from continuing operations
Total other comprehensive income
- Increase in Asset Revaluation Surplus
Balance as at 31 December 2018

40,283,872
957,806

Balance as at 1 January 2019
Operating result from continuing operations
Total other comprehensive income
- Increase in Asset Revaluation Surplus
Balance as at 31 December 2019

41,241,678
288,887

41,241,678

41,530,564

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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15,309,911

55,593,783
957,806

62,711
15,372,622

62,711
56,614,300

15,372,622

56,614,300
288,887

171,974
15,544,596

171,974
57,075,160

TOWNSVILLE GRAMMAR SCHOOL
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

NOTE

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from school fees
Receipts from government grants
Receipts from other operating activities
Payments to suppliers and employees

2019

2018

$

$

14,159,975
11,383,929
3,483,847
(26,709,589)
2,318,162
126,299
(793,233)
1,651,227

14,318,913
11,483,353
3,366,303
(26,308,808)
2,859,761
216,510
(883,293)
2,192,978

Cash flows from investing activities
Government Capital Grants
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Net cash outflow from investing activities

(2,332,449)
(2,332,449)

(2,034,482)
(2,034,482)

Net Cash inflows/(outflows) from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowing
Loan repayments
Net Cash inflows/( outflows) from financing activities

(1 ,375,578)
(1 ,375,578)

(1 ,472,598)
(1 ,472,598)

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year

(2,056,799)
8,133,023
6,076,224

(1 ,314, 102)
9,447,125
8,133,023

Interest received
Interest paid
Net cash inflow from operating activities

8

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.

4

TOWNSVILLE GRAMMAR SCHOOL
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
Note 1
Note 2
Note 3
Note4
NoteS
Note6
Note 7
Note 8
Note 9
Note 10
Note 11
Note 12
Note 13
Note 14
Note 15
Note 16
Note 17
Note 18
Note 19

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Revenue
Employee Expenses
Key Management Personnel and Remuneration
Supplies and Services
Finance/Borrowing Costs
Other Expenses
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Receivables
Property, Plant and Equipment
Payables
Other Financial Liabilities
Accrued Employee Benefits
Asset Revaluation Surplus by Class
Commitments
Contingencies
Related Party Transactions
Events Occurring After Balance Date
Other Information

1. Summary of significant accounting policies
a) Basis of preparation
The School has prepared these financial statements in compliance with the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the Financial
and Performance Management Standard 2019. The financial statements are authorised for issue by the Chairman of the Board of
Trustees and Secretary at the date of signing the Management Certificate.
These financial statements are general purpose financial statements, and have been prepared on an accrual basis in accordance
with Australian Accounting Standards- Reduced Disclosure Requirements and Interpretations with the exception of the
Statement of Cash Flows which is prepared on a cash basis. In addition, the financial statements comply with Queensland Treasury's
Minimum Reporting Requirements for the year ending 31 December 2019, and other authoritative pronouncements.
With respect to compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, the school has applied those requirements
applicable to not-for-profit entities, as the school is a not-for-profit entity. Except where stated, the historical cost convention is used.
Amounts included in the financial statements are in Australian dollars and have been rounded to the nearest $1. As a result of
rounding additions may not necessarily add due to the rounding to the nearest $1.
Comparative information has been restated where necessary to be consistent with disclosures in the current reporting period.
Current I Non-Current Classification -Assets are classified as 'current' where their carrying amount is expected to be realised within
12 months after the reporting date. Liabilities are classified as 'current' when they are due to be settled within 12 months after the
reporting date, or the School does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement to beyond 12 months after the reporting date.
All other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current.
b) New and Revised Accounting Standards
No accounting pronouncements were early adopted in the 2019 year.
There were no Australian Accounting Standard changes mandatorily applicable for the first time as from 2019 that had a significant
impact on the School's financial statements.
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities and AASB 16 Leases were
applied for the first time in 2019.
AASB 15 introduces a comprehensive model for accounting for all revenue from contracts with customers using a five step revenue
recognition model: identify the contract; identify the performance obligations; determine the transaction price; allocate the transaction
price to the performance obligations; and recognise revenue progressively as individual performance obligations are satisified.
AASB 1058 clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements of NFP entities for financial years commencing on or after
1 January 2019. AASB 1058 should be read in conjunction with AASB 15.
The new standards do not impact on the classification of the School's revenue reporting. Comparative figures have not been restated.
AASB 16 removes the distinction between operating and finance leases for lessees and requires the recognition of a right-of-use asset
and lease liability on the balance sheet. The School's operating leases as at 1 January 2019 have been treated in accordance with
AASB 16. Except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets, right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities are
recognised in the statement of financial position. Straight-line operating lease expense recognition is replaced with a depreciation charge
for the right-of-use assets (included in operating costs) and an interest expense on the recognised lease liabilities
(included in finance costs). The impact on of adopting this standard has not been material. Comparative figures have not been restated.
The School did not voluntarily change any of its accounting policies during 2019.
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TOWNSVILLE GRAMMAR SCHOOL
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
2. Revenue
Revenue from customer contracts
Education revenue
Tuition Fees
Boarding Fees
Application Fees
Surcharge Fees
State Government Recurrent Grants
State Government Endowment Grants
Commonwealth Government Recurrent Grants
General Purpose Levy
Outside School Hours Care & PrePrep

2018
$

2019

s

Other revenue
Capital Grants
Interest Income- General Fund
Interest Income- Cash Management
Interest Income - Other
Trading Activities Income
Other revenue

11.735.285
2,068,327
120,170
222,311
2,498,418
18,200
8,867,311
453,200
2,318,400
28,301,622

12.258,624
1,983,795
90,010
219,976
2,694,742
18,200
8,770,411
456,317
2,240,995
28.733,070

37,258
73,628
15,413
579,632
117,203
29,124.755

63,558
110,939
42,013
580,936
46,041
29,576,557

Accounting Policy
Revenue is recognised in accordance with AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 1058 Income for Not-for-Profit Entities.
Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
The school recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to the school and specific criteria have been met for each of the school's activities as described below.
Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:
(1) Tuition, boarding, application and Surcharge Fees, Outside School Hours Care & PrePrep fees are recognised over time as the related services
(tuition/boarding services) are provided. Where funds are received in advance of services being provided the school recognises a current liability
'fees in advance' representing the schools obligation to transfer services to the customer in future periods.
(2) Grant revenue is recognised in profit or loss when the company satisfies the performance obligations stated within the funding agreements. If conditions
are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before the company is eligible to retain the contribution, the grant will be recognised in the statement of
financial position as a liability until those conditions are satisfied.
(3) Interest income is recognised when it is earned.
li4) Trading Activities Income is recognised when it is received.
3. Employee expenses
Wages and salaries
Employer superannuation contributions
Employee Related Expenses
Worker's compensation premium
Total

17,381,570
1,889,685
19,271,255

17,194,936
1,860.551
19,055,487

99,001
19,370,256

76,735
19,132,222

The number of employees as at 31 December, including both full-time employees and part-time employees, measured on a full-time equivalent basis (reflecting
minimum Obligatory Human Resource Information (MOHRI)) is:
210.1

Number of Employees:

206.7

Accounting Policy
Wages, Salaries and Sick Leave
Wages and salaries due but unpaid at reporting date are recognised In the Statement of Financial Position at the nominal salary rates. Payroll tax and
workers' compensation insurance are a consequence of employing employees, but are not counted in an employee's total remuneration package.
They are not employee benefits and are recognized separately as employee related expenses. Employer superannuation contributions, annual leave levies
and long service leave levies are regarded as employee benefits.
Prior history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement accrued. This is expected to continue in future
periods. Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing accumulated entitlements will be used by employees and no liability for unused sick leave entitlements
is recognised.
As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised for this leave as it is taken.

Annual and Long service leave
The School recognises a liability for annual and long service leave for employees from commencement of employment.
Where employees have met the prerequisite length of service and the School does not have an unconditional right to defer this liability beyond 12 months,
long service is classified as a current liability. Otherwise it is classified as non·current.
The non-current liability for annual and long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected
future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and
salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting
date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Superannuation
Contributions are made by the School to employee superannuation funds and are charged as expenses when incurred.
The School contributes only to defined contribution superannuation funds.
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TOWNSVILLE GRAMMAR SCHOOL
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

4. Koy Management Personnel and Romunoratlon
i} Remuneration of Board Mombers
No Boord Mombors recoivnd or Y;oro cnti!lod to rocoivo nny foes or other bcnofits during tho yonr.
ii) Koy mnnogomont personnel
Koy mnnngomonl pomonnel nnd romunomtion disc!ott~uros aro mado in nccordanco with tho Flm:mcinl Reporting Roquiromonts for Ouoonsland Government Agoncios

lssuod by Ouoonaland Tronsury,
Tho School hns ass.os.sod tho koy oxoeutivo mnnngomont pomonnot poslliont in contoxt of tho School bolng conttltulod undor tho Grammar Schools Act 2016. Ootails of oxocutlvo mnnogomont porsonnol
positions, rosponsibi!itioa, appointment dnto and romunorntion nro dolaitod bofow. Further information on lhoso positions can bo found in tho body of tho Annual Report under tho section rololing to Govornnnco.
Roaponslbllltlos

Position•

Trustoo
Trustoo
Tmstoo
Tru$teo
Tru$loo
Trustoo
Trustoo
Principal

To suporvlso, maintain and control tho
conduct of tho SchooL To mako rules v.1th
rogards to tho management and control of
tho School.

Tho Principal is rosponsiblo for tho
implomcntaUon of plans and st1aloglos as
approved by tho Board of Trustees.

Doputy PrincipalOpornlions

t,;on ract clanlncallon and appo!ntmont authority (curront
lncumbonts
Elected Trustee
Elected Trustee
Eloctod Trustee
Government Appomled Trustoo
Govommont Appoinlod Trustoo
vovommont Appointod Trustoo
ovommont Appojnlod Trut>too
Fivo yoar contract

Dato appolntod to
nosition
18 Nov 2010
10 Septombor 2015
24 Mnrch 1995
14 March 2008
14 Juno 2012
16 Juno 1996
3 Juno 2005
1 January 2018

Throo yoar contract

1 January 2012

Permanent

20 Mny 2004

Tho Deputy Principal- Operations ti.Upports
tho Principal in implomontalion of plans and
stralogies as delegated by tho PrincipaL

8U$inot;s Managor/
Board Socrotary

To onsuro bast praclico deployment of lho
School's financial rosourcos.

Director of Boarding

Tho Dire-ctor Boarding assumes
responsibility for aU mailers relating to tho
management and leadership of Boarding at
the School.

Fivo year contract

1 January 2019

iii) Romunorotion Exponsos
Tho remuneration nnd other terms of employment for tho koy oxe-cutivo management personnel nro specified in omploymenl contracts.
For tho 2019 year, remuneration or key oxocullvo management personnel increases were based on performance assessments. The
percentage increases aro tied to tho achievement of Pl&-dotorminod individual performance !argots.
Romunorallon packages: for koy oxocuhvo management personnel comprise the fo!k:l\\'ing components:
Short term employoo benoflls v.tlich include:
o Bnso- consisting of ba$o salary, allowances and loavo ontitlomonts paid and provldod for tho ont!ro year or for that port
of tho year during v.tlich tho omployoo occupied tho specific position, Amounts disclosed equal the amount expensed in
tho Stalemont of Comprehensive Income.
o Non~monotary benefits- consisting of provision of romisslon for School foos and motor vehicles together y,'ith fringe
benefits tax opplicablo to tho benefit
Lonq term omployoo benefits include lona seNico leave accruod.
Post omploymont benefits Include suporannualion conlribulions.
T arminalion Bonofils aro not provided for Ylithin individual contracts of employment. Contracts of employment provide onlY
for notice poriods or payment In lieu of notico on termination, regardless of tho reason for termination.
No performance bonuses woro paid.
2019
Doscriptlon
Short Term
Long
Post
Term

Employee

Total aggregate

Employee

Benefits

remuneration for

Benefits

Employee Benefits

oxocutivo management

Base

Total

Benefits

Remuneration

Non-

personnel positions

Monetary

noted above.

Benefits
$'000
Trustoos 7
Principal
Ooputv Principal Oooratlons
Buslnoss Managorl
Board Socrotarv
Olroctor of Boardlnn
w

2018
Description

$'000
325
166
220

22
2

5

31
22
24

385
192
251

140

2

3

14

159

8
4

Short Term

Long

Post

Termination

Total

Employee Benefits

Term

Employee

Benefits

Remuneration

Employee

Benefits

remuneration for

Benefits

oxoculivo manage mont

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Total aggregate

per~onnol

Termination

Non-

Base

positions

Monetary

noted above.

Benefits
$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Trustoos 7
PrlnciD:tl
Deputy Principal· Oporatlons
Busfnosa Managor/
Board Socrotary
Dlroctor of Boardinn

326
151
214
154

44

7
4

2

5

29
21
22

406
185
243

4

17

175

TOWNSVILLE GRAMMAR SCHOOL
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
2019
2018
5. Supplies and Services
Supplies and consumables
Consultants and contractors
Operating lease rentals
Trading activities cost of sales
School Transport Costs
Other
Total

$

$
4,659,179
703,122
606,148
386,167
356,248
185,377
6,896,241

6. Finance/Borrowing Costs
Interest on QTC Borrowings
Bank fees and charges

4,606,254
723,144
673,669
375,661
423,585
65,341 .
6,867,654

793,233
71,934
865,167

883,293
79,895
963,187

358,014
33,000
391,014

288,187
32,500
320,687

Accounting Policv
Finance costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Finance costs include:
- Interest on short-term and long-term borrowings;
- Ancillary administration charQes.
7. Other expenses
Insurance premiums
External audit fees*
Total

* External audit fees- Total audit fees paid to the Queensland Audit Office relating to the 2019 financial
statements are estimated to be $33,000 (2018: $32,500). There are no non-audit services included in this
amount.
The School's non-current physical assets and other risks are insured through Aon Risk Services Australia Limited, with
premiums being paid on a risk assessment basis. In addition, the school pays premiums to WorkCover Queensland in respect
of its obli ations for em lo ee com ensation.
8. Cash and cash equivalents
General Account
Cash Management Account
Endowment Fund Account
Cash on Hand
Building Fund
Loan Fund
Restricted use balances:
Short term deposit
Total cash assets

1,000,379
1,422,946
225,687
2,360
1,813,391
593

1,164,555
3,349,516
225,259
2,360
1,778,128
593

1,610,868

1,612,612

6,076,224

8,133,023

a) Cash at bank
The above balances are bearing interest rates between 0.24% and 2.44% (2018- 0.46% and 2.67%).
b) Restricted Use Accounts Not available for use
Restricted use accounts (Short term deposit, CBA and Suncorp Interest Bearing Deposits) of $1,610,868 (2018- $1 ,612,612)
represents monies that have been bequeathed to the school. The use of these funds is restricted to the terms and
conditions established in the bursary agreements. The bursary agreements stipulate the school cannot use
these funds in the normal course of their operating cycle.
These deposits are bearing interest rates between 0.58% and 2.40% (2018- 0.92% and 2.50%).
Accounting Policv
Cash and cash equivalents include all cash and cheques receipted but not banked at 31 December as well as deposit at call with
financial institutions.
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TOWNSVILLE GRAMMAR SCHOOL
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
2018

2019

$

9. Receivables
Trade receivables
less: Impairment of receivables.
Other receivables - Debtors

(b) Movement in impairment for receivables
Balance at beginning of the year
Increase/(decrease) in impairment recognised as an expense
Balance at the end of the year

$
855,388
(269,727)
585,661
248,080
833,741

801,225
(274,470)
526,755
287,577
814,332

274,470
(4,743)
269,727

299,660
(25,190)
274.470

Accounting Policy
The School applies AASB9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses by using a provision matrix which calculates and
applies historical default rates based on the type of debtor and age of outstanding receivable. This reflects the increasing probability of
default occurring the longer trade receivables remain outstanding. The gross carrying amount of a receivable is written off when the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and the School has no realistic expectation of recovery of the financial assets.
10. Property, plant and equipment
BUILDINGS
Buildings at Fair Value
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Total Buildings
LAND
Leasehold Land at Fair Value
Freehold Land at Fair Value
TOTAL LAND
PLANT & EQUIPMENT
Plant and Equipment at Cost
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Total Plant & Equipment
WORK IN PROGRESS
At Cost
Total Work in Progress

92,574,000
(34,111,000)
58,463,000

87,390,000
(30,545,000)
56,845,000

1,950,000
6,050,000
8,000,000

1,950,000
6,050,000
8,000,000

3,938,848
(3,576,749)
362,097

3,490,965
(3.423,960}
67,003

49,355
49,355

Total Property, Plant and Equipment

9

771,214
771,214

TOWNSVILLE GRAMMAR SCHOOL
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

a) Proporty, Plant and Equlpmont Roconcillallon

Basis of Measuromont
Carrying amount at 1 January 2019
Acquisitions
Rovnluation incromon!.s/{dccromtmts} {Nolo 11}
Trans for bo!\voon classos:
Depreciation
Carrying amount nt 31 Oocombor 2019

Loasohold Land
Fair Valuo
1,950,000

Froohold Land
Fair V:aluo
6,050.000

Buildings

Fair Valuo
56,845,000

P&E
Cost
67,004

447,882

1.950.000

6.050.000

171.974
2,606,426
(1.160.400)
58.463.000

Work In Proorosa
Cost
771,214

1,884,567

Total
65,683,217

2,332,449
171,974

(2.606,426)
(152.789)
362.097

(1,313,189)
49.355

66.874,452

b) Valuations of land and buildings
Land and Buildings woro lndopondonlly valued by Mr G Pyman (Corlifiod Practicing Valuer), lnlornational Valuation
Consullonls, o division or Aon Risk Sorvicos Australia Llmitod. in Docombor 2019.

Category
Land

Valuo
Loauoho!d Land

Froohold Land
Total Land

Fair Valuo Moasuromont
1.950,000 Loae;ohold land i~ hold undor n Oood or Gmnt in Trust (OOGIT) providing tho Trustee~ \\lilh oxc!usivo uao of that land
but not its ownership. Tho oYmership remains with tho Crown. In accordance with Section 165(3) of tho Land Act
1910 ns amondod by tho Land Acl1962, tho School has no pomr to soU or transfer tho lnnd. Tho fairvo.fuo of land was
basod on publk:ly avai!ablo data on sales of similar land ln nearby localilios in tho tvlolvo months prior to tho dato of tho
revaluation. In dotormlning tho values. adjustments woro mado to tho sales dat<t to tako into account tho location of tho
school's land, its sizo, boing subject to an oasomont and tho significant restriction on the school's inability to soli or transfer
tho land asset

6,050,000 Tho fair vnluo of land was. based on publicly avai!ablo data on sates of :-.imilar land In nonrby locnlilies In tho twotvo months
- - - = = = p r i o r to tho dato of tho rovalualion, taking into consideration any zoning conskfcrntions/rcslriclions and encumbrances.
8.000,000

Buildings
Curront Roplacomont Cost

MarkotVoluo

Total Buildings

57,283,000 This catogory of buildings and silo improvomonls aro of a spocialisod operational naturo and oro rnroly sold in tho opon
market Tho fair valuo of tho buildings nnd silo improvements has thorofare boon dotorminod by first establishing their
ostimnl&d cost to roplaco v.ith on oquivolont now asset or Gross Curront Cost, using abbreviated bill of quantities
mothodology v.ith costing roforonco to Australian lnslituto of Quantity Survoyors Currant Construclion Costs and Building
Cost Index, and Rav.iinson's Australian Construction Handbook for Civic Works and Buildings. From each building and tho
site improvements Gross Current Cost, is deducted deprocialion for their physical, functional and economic obsolescence.
1,180.000 Tho fair valuo of this calogory of buildings was bocod on publicly available data on ulos of similar land In noarby localitios
in tho lvt'olvo month$ prior to tho dato of tho rovalualion, Inking into considorntion any zoning eon$idoratiem;/rostrictions

_ _-cc;c-;.;;;c.o;;;o"'o and encumbrances.
5 8 4 63
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TOWNSVILLE GRAMMAR SCHOOL
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
Accounting Policy
Acquisftion of assets
Actual cost Is used for the Initial reccrding of all non-current physical asset acquisitions. Cost is determined as the value given as consideration plus costs incidental to the
acquisition, including all other costs incurred in getting the assets ready for use. including architects' fees and engineering design fees. However, any training costs are
expensed as incurred.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment with a cost or other value equal to or in excess of the follov.ing thresholds are recognised for financial reporting purposes in the year
of acquisition:
Buildings
$10,000
Land
$1
Plant and Equipment
$5,000
Other (including heritage & cultural)
$5,000
Items of lesser value are expensed in the year of acquisition.
Land Improvements undertaken by Townsville Grammar School are included In buildings.
Revaluations of Non-Current PIJYSicaf Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Land and Buildings, Property, plant and equipment are shown at fair value. These assets are reported at their revalued amounts, being fair value at the date of
valuation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment losses where applicable.

In respect of the abovementioned asset classes, the cost of items acquired during the financial year has been judged by management to materially represent their fair value
at the end of the reporting period.
Plant and equipment is measured at cost in accordance with the Non-Current Asset Policies. The carrying amounts for plant and equipment at cost should not materially
differ from their fair value.
Property, plant and equipment classes measured at fair value (refer above) are revalued on an annual basis undertaken by an independent professional valuer. For financial
reporting purposes, the revaluation process- revaluation practices and procedures. is managed by the School. The School undertakes annual reviews of the revaluation
practices (after each year's revaluation exercise), and reports to the Board of Trustees regarding the outcomes of, and reccmmendations arising from, each annual review.
If a particular asset class experiences significant and volatile changes in fair value, that class is subject to specific appraisal in the reporting period, where praclicable,
regardless of the timing of the last specific appraisal.
Any revaluation increment arising on the revaluation of an asset is credited to the asset revalualion surplus of the appropriate class, except to the extent it reverses a
revaluation decrement for the class previously recognised as an expense. A decrease in the carrying amount on revaluation is charged as an expense, to the extent it
exceeds the balance, if any, in the revaluation surplus relating to that asset class.
On revaluation:
·for assets revalued using a cost valuation approach (current replacement cost). accumulated depreciation is adjusted to equal the difference between the gross
amount and carrying amount, after taking Into account accumulated impairment losses. This is generally referred to as the 'gross method'; and
· for assets revalued using a market or income-based valuation approach ·accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses are eliminated against the gross
amount of the asset prior to restating for the revaluation. This is generally referred to as the 'net method'.
Separately identified components of assets are measured on the same basis as the assets to which they relate.
Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment
Land is not depreciated as it has an unlimited useful life.
Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis so as to allocate the net cost or revalued amount of each asset, tess its estimated residual value,
progressively over its estimated useful life to the school.
The estimation of the useful lives of assets is based on historical experience with similar assets as well as considerations such as manufacturers' warranties,
asset turnover praclices and the School's strategic asset plan. Reassessments of useful lives are undertaken annually by the School. Any consequential
adjustments to remaining useful life estimates are implemented prospectively.
Where assets have separately identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement. these components are assigned useful lives distinct from the asset to which
they relate and are depredated accordingly.
Any expenditure that increases the originally assessed capacity or service potential of an asset is capitalised and the new depreciable amount is depreciated over the
remaining useful life of the asset to the school.
The depreciable amount of improvements to or on leasehold land is allocated progressively over the estimated useful lives of the improvements or the unexpired period of the
lease, Whichever is the shorter. The unexpired period of a lease includes any option period where exercise of the option is probable.
For each class of depreciable asset the following depreciation and amortisation rates are used:
• Buildings
25 - 40 years
• Plant and equipment
4- 15 years
Impairment of Non-Current Assets
All non-current physical assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis or, where the asset is measured at fair value, for indicators of a change in fair
value/service potential since the last valuation was completed. Where indicators of a material change in fair value or service potential since the last valuation arise, the asset is
revalued at the reporting date under AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement. If an indicator of possible impairment exists, the School determines the asset's recoverable amount under
AASB 136 Impairment of Assets. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount.
When the asset is measured at a revalued amount, the impairment loss is offset against the asset revaluation surplus of the relevant class to the extent available.
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TOWNSVILLE GRAMMAR SCHOOL
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
2018

2019
$

11. Payables
Trade Payables
Fees in advance

$
1,190,352
615,925
1,806.277

1,206,591
644.473
1,851,064

Accounting Policy
Trade creditors are recognised upon receipt of the goods or services ordered and are measured at the agreed purchase/contract price, gross of applicable
trade and other discounts. Amounts owing are unsecured and are generally settled on 30 day terms.

Fees in Advance represent the balance of overpaid parent debtor accounts, which will be applied against student fees and levies in future periods.
12. Other Financial Liabilities
Current
Bank Loan Secured (Queensland Treasury Corporation)
Lease Liability

1,5g9,370

1,694,936
99.210
1,794,146

Non-Current
Bank Loan Secured (Queensland Treasury Corporation)
Lease Liability

11,602,074
92.418
11.694.492

1,599,370
13,264,846
13,264,846

Secured bank borrowings are through the Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC) Australia and includes a 3 year, 6 year. 12 year and 15 year debt pool.
Interest on the loans calculated based on lhe rate charged by QTC on the principal borrowings are from 3.77% to 7.91% fixed as at 31 December 2019.
Expected final payment dates vary from 9 November 2020 to 15 September 2035.
Accounting Policy
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the school has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the balance date.
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, plus any transaction costs directly attributable to the borrowings, then subsequently held at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that excatly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the
expected life of a financial instrument to the net carrying amount of that instrument.
Lease liability represents the net present value of operating lease payments as required by AASB 16. Following the adoption of AASB 16 a lease liability was
recoqnlsed alonq with a correspondlnq riqht of use asset In prooertv plant and equipment for $1g1 ,628.

13. Accrued Employee Benefits
Current
Long Service Leave
Annual Leave
Non· Current
Long Service Leave

1,350,574
359,654
1.710,228

1,391,774
329,596
1,721,370

611,057

676,568

!Accounting policies for employee benefit liabilities are disclosed in Note 3.

14. Asset Revaluation Surplus by Ctass
Movements
Asset Revaluation Surplus by Class
Balance 1 January 2019
Revaluation increments
Balance 31 December 2019

s

s
Land
3,852,331
3,852,331
3,852,331

Balance 1 January 2018
Revaluation increments/decrements
Balance 31 December 2018

3,852,331

The asset revaluation surplus represents the net effect of upwards and downwards revaluations of assets to fair value.
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$

Buildings
11,520,291
171,974
11.692,265
11.457,580
62,711
11.520,291

Total
15,372,622
171,974
15,544,596
15,309,g11
62,711
15.372,622

TOWNSVILLE GRAMMAR SCHOOL
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
2019
15. Commitments
$
(a) Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities is as follows:
Payable within one year:
North Shore Modular Classroom
23,259
Parker Hall Building Toilet Renovation
Parker Hall Entrance
School House Lift
23,259
(b) Lease commitments: Operating Leases
Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases
are payable as follows:
Within one year
Later than one year and not later than two years
Later than two years and not later than five years
Commitments not recognised in the financial statements

2018
$

606,148
388,008
191,347
1,185,503

200,000
637,939
56,550
894,489

690,452
466,258
197,176
1,353,886

Operating leases are entered into as a means of leasing motor vehicles and IT equipment for the operations of the School. Lease
payments are generally fixed, but with inflation escalation clauses on which contingent rentals are determined. Treatment of operating
lease payments is in accordance with AASB 16 Leases reporting exemptions being low-value or short term leases.

16. Contingencies
Government capital grants contingent on a minimum of 20yrs occupation of the building:
Later than 5 yrs:
Block Grant Authority- North Shore Stage 2 (17yrs)
Block Grant Authority- Yr 7 Flying Start (15yrs)
Block Grant Authority- P21 JS Library (11 yrs)
Commitments not recognised in the financial statements

361,250
431,625
1,671,780
2,464,655

382,500
460,400
1,823,760
2,666,660

17. Related Party Transactions
The following Trustees held office during the Year Ended 31 December 2019.
S.Durward, J.Johnson, D.Giudes, B.McKay, G.Bell, A.Johnson, C.Cocklin.
All dealings with Trustees were within normal trading terms and conditions. Transactions with related parties are detailed below.
The School utilised a company (Travel Associates) controlled by one of the Trustees for the majority of its travel arrangements. The fees
and charges paid to the company are on an arm's length basis at the standard rates and discounts applicable to all their other
customers. Invoices from the company are payable on account within 30days, with no security being required from the School.
During 2019 travel expenses incurred from Travel Associates totalled $82,151 (2018: $79,168). As at 31 December 2019 NIL is
payable to Travel Assocates.

18. Events Occurring After Balance Date
No matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2019 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the
entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the entity's state of affairs in future financial years.
19. Other Information
a) Boarders' Amenities accounts
The School maintains an account for boarders' pocket money placed on deposit by parents. The balance of
this account at 31 December 2019 is $83,921 and is not recognized as a cash asset by the School.
Monies held in this account are for student's own use and any balances are refunded at completion of schooling.

b) Taxation
i) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition
of the asset or as part of an item of expense. Receivables and payables in the Statement of Financial Position are shown
inclusive of GST.
Cash flows are presented in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of investing and
financing activities. which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

ii) Income Tax
No provision for income tax has been raised as the School is exempt from income tax under Division 50 of the Income Tax
Assessment Act 1997.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
c) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

Estimates and assumptions with the most significant effect on the financial statements are outlined in the following notes:
Valuation of Property, Plant and Equipment- Note 10
Depreciation - Note 10
Impairment- Note 10
Receivables Impairment- Note 9
Employee Entitlements - Note 3

Key judgements:
Provision for impairment
Included in trade and other receivables at 31 December 2019 is an amount receivable for school fees from various parents of
students during the current financial year amounting to $269,727. The debts are currently in the hands of an external debt
collection agency and a provision for impairment has been made for $269,727 at 31 December 2019.
Valuation- Land and Buildings
Land and building valuation methodologies are detailed in Note 10.
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STATEMENT BY
TOWNSVILLE GRAMMAR SCHOOL

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared pursuant to section 62(1) of the
Financial Accountability Act 2009 (the Act), section 42 of the Financial and Performance Management
Standard 2019, Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012 and
other prescribed requirements.
In accordance with section 62(1 )(b) of the Act we certify that in our opinion:

a) the prescribed requirements for establishing and keeping the accounts have been complied
with in all material respects;
b) the financial statements have been drawn up to present a true and fair view, in accordance with
prescribed accounting standards, of the transactions of Townsville Grammar School for the
financial year ended 31 December 2019 and of the financial position of the School at the end
of that year; and
We acknowledge responsibility under s.8 and s.15 of the Financial and Performance Management
Standard 2019 for the establishment and maintenance, in all material respects, of an appropriate and
effective system of internal controls and risk management processes with respect to financial
reporting throughout the reporting period.

STUART DURWARD AM
CHAIRMAN

SECRETARY
25/02/2020

25/02/2020
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Better public services

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Board of Trustees of the Townsville Grammar School

Report on the audit of the financial report
Opinion
I have audited the accompanying financial report of The Board of Trustees of the Townsville
Grammar School.
In my opinion, the financial report:
a)

gives a true and fair view of the entity's financial position as at 31 December 2019, and
its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended

b)

complies with the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial and Performance
Management Standard 2019, the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission
Act 2012, the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013 and
Australian Accounting Standards- Reduced Disclosure Requirements.

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019,
the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements including summaries of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the management
certificate.
Basis for opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing
Standards, which incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Report section of my report.
I am independent of the entity in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of
the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and with the ethical
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the
financial report in Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code and the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing Standards.
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for my opinion.
Responsibilities of the entity for the financial report
The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair
view in accordance with the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial and
Performance Management Standard 2019, the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commission Act 2012, the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation
2013 and Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements, and for
such internal control as the Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

The Board is also responsible for assessing the entity's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless it is intended to abolish the entity or to otherwise cease
operations.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial report
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a
whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor's report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the entity.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of the entity's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's
ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I
am required to draw attention in my auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. I base my
conclusions on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a
going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that I identify during my audit.

In accordance with s.40 of the Auditor-General Act 2009, for the year ended
31 December 2019:
a)

I received all the information and explanations I required.

b)

In my opinion, the prescribed requirements in relation to the establishment and keeping
of accounts were complied with in all material respects.

27 February 2020

Melissa Fletcher
as delegate of the Auditor-General

Queensland Audit Office
Brisbane

